RUYUAN
R o

- = =
Al EE RO AR AT
Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company Limited *
(a joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China)
(R EE AR HEMBEFMRA 2 RHDBRAF)

Stock code B {5 X5 : 8249

ANNUAL
REPORT

2022

*E M5 For identification purposes only



CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Zhejiang RuiYuan
Intelligent Control Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair
and reasonable.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

On behalf of Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the 2022 annual results of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The overall economic environment in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC” or “China”) in 2022 was very challenging for private enterprises
due to the following factors:

(i) the overall economic growth rate continued to slow down
(i)  competition and production costs continued to increase

We strived to survive in such a harsh environment by simplifying our
operation structure and controlling costs.

In 2022, our major business included engaged in the design, manufacture
and sales of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products, sales
of controller systems for electronic equipment and electronic component
and subassembly for electronic appliances.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), the
Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB32,213,000 (2021:
RMB36,540,000), representing an decrease of approximately
RMB4,327,000 over the previous year. The decrease in revenue is due to
the Group maintained and stabilized its existing business while developed
new business, but the Group’s newly launched CNC machine tool optical
mechanical products have not been put into large scale production at
present, therefore, the revenue decreased.

For details of performance analysis and financial review, please refer to
page 6 to page 11 under the section Management Discussion and
Analysis in this annual report.

PROSPECT

While the market for 2023 remains uncertain. Some trends seem to be
certain:

(i) the economic growth will further slow down; and

(i) automatization and replacement of labor by robotics will continue
to speed up.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

The above trends present challenges and opportunities to the Group. |
have more than 15 years experience on industrial automation and have
great confidence in the future market of intelligent control system for
industrial uses.

While 2023 remains challenging for us, we will explore business
opportunities for intelligent control system for industrial uses.

DEDICATION

On behalf of all members of the board of Directors, | would like to take
this opportunity to express our sincerest gratitude to our shareholders
and colleagues for their unwavering dedications in 2022 and to our
clients and business partners for their loyalties and support rendered to
the Group.

He Keng
Chairman
Ningbo, The PRC, 24 March 2023
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Mangment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major business included engaging in the design,
manufacture and sales of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical
products, sales of controller systems for electronic equipment and
electronic component and subassembly for electronic appliances. The
Group’s activities are primarily operated in the PRC and the Group’s
revenue is mainly attributable to customers in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB32,213,000 (2021: RMB36,540,000), representing a
decrease of approximately RMB4,327,000 over the previous year. The
decrease in revenue is due to the Group maintained and stabilized its
existing business while developed new business, but the Group’s newly
launched CNC machine tool optical mechanical products have not been
put into large scale production at present, therefore, the revenue
decreased.

In 2022, the Group took the initiative to develop the business of industrial
electronic intelligent control equipment, mechanical equipment, industrial
CNC system, and general parts processing and manufacturing. At
present, the Group purchased a batch of multi-axis drilling machine,
grinding machine and radial drilling machine and other equipment, for
metal castings and metal products (such as bed, bed legs, headstock,
pressure film, briquetting, nut and other castings and forgings)
processing, manufacturing and production of CNC machine tools and
optical machines. The CNC machine tool optical and mechanical
products launched by the Group in the first half of 2021 are applied in
different fields, including raw materials, production and processing. The
Company will soon launch a variety of high-end CNC machine tool and
optical machine products to enhance the enterprise’s own product
innovation and market expansion. In addition, the Group’s industrial
automation control system and electronic equipment products have also
been processed and upgraded, further improve the performance of
products and enhance market competitiveness. The Group will continue
to purchase a series of processing equipment to develop new products.

The Group has signed letters of intent for cooperation and purchase and
sales contracts with a number of agent dealers, mainly metal casting and
forging factories and precision machinery companies. The suppliers
mainly include manufacturers of metal casting and forging parts, while
the customers of the Company include trading enterprises and
production companies. The Company’s marketing team will continue to
expand business in Hangzhou, Jiaxing, Shanghai, Shaoxing, Nanjing,
Wuxi, Huai’an, Linhai, Quzhou and other cities, continue to increase new
sales customers, and actively explore more cities’ markets.
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Mangment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

In 2022, due to the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
pandemic, the control measures in various places have greatly affected
logistics and transportation, resulting in a significant decline in the
Company’s operating performance. The Group is gradually expanding its
existing business, such as CNC machine tools and optical machine
products, and is waiting for the market opportunity to expand its scale
and business under the best market conditions.

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

An analysis by reportable segments is provided in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Gross profit margin was 14.93% (2021: 6.39%), revenue decreased by
approximately RMB4,327,000. The increase in gross profit margin is
mainly due to the cost of sales reduced. The Group will continue to
implement cost control.

The Group recorded other income of approximately RMB23,000 (2021:
RMB3,000) in 2022.

Administrative expenses recorded an increase by approximately
RMB204,000 over the previous year (2022: RMB2,523,000; 2021:
RMB2,319,000).

Finance costs increase by RMB1,103,000 over the previous year which
is primarily due to the imputed interest expense on loan from a major
shareholder (2022: RMB6,451,000; 2021: RMB5,348,000).

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB4,632,000
(2021: RMB4,034,000), representing an increase in loss of approximately
RMB598,000 over previous year. The increase in loss was mainly
attributed to the one-off gain of approximately RMB1,509,000 from
deregistration of a subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2021,
whereas no such one-off gain was recorded for the year ended 31
December 2022, and finance cost increased by approximately
RMB1,103,000 compared to the same period last year. The Group will
continue to implement strict cost control to reduce losses.
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Mangment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Current assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB17,628,000 (2021: RMB18,338,000), representing a decrease of
approximately RMB710,000 compared with last year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the trade and bill receivables by appropriately
RMB4,565,000. Bank and balances and cash an increase of
appropriately RMB 3,958,000.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had current liabilities of
approximately RMB66,462,000 (2021: RMB31,328,000), which
represented an increase of approximately RMB35,134,000. It was mainly
due to increase in loan from a major shareholder of appropriately
RMB37,720,000.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net liabilities of approximately
RMB48,633,000 (2021: RMB44,001,000). The Group’s operations and
investments were financed principally by its internal resources, loan from
a major shareholder and shareholders’ equity.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB14,661,000 (2021: RMB10,703,000), with no bank
borrowings (2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no other borrowings (2021: Nil).

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2022, The Group has no gearing ratio. (2021: Nil),
which was expressed as a percentage of other borrowings over the total
assets.
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Mangment Discussion and Analysis
BIEE AT

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The Group understands that its own competitive capability in product
innovation and quality is important to future growth in sales and
operation. Operation processes are continuously streamlined. The Group
is moving forward with realistic measures and goals and in accordance
with feasible plans. The Group has established strategic partnerships
with various companies and is now actively expanding the products and
sales markets, laying the foundation for the increase in the trading
business of intelligent control systems. At present, the Group’s products
for sale include electronic components, industrial electronic intelligent
control system, alternating current servo motors and CNC machine tools
optical and mechanical. Such products have gradually been recognized
by the market and customers. The application of industrial electronic
intelligent control system and CNC machine tools optical and mechanical
developed by the Group has been gradually available to the market,
making the market and development prospects of the Group promising.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group had not held any significant investments as at 31 December
2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The details of contingent liabilities are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 11 employees (2021: 11
employees). The proportion of female employees (including senior
management personnel) is approximately 72.7%. Details of the Group’s
employees by gender are set out in the 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) Report of the Company published separately.
Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms and the
performance, qualifications and experience of individual employees.
Bonuses based on individual performance will be paid to employees in
recognition and reward of their contribution. Other benefits include
contributions to retirement scheme.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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An analysis of employees of the Group by their duties for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 is set out below:

REBEEZ T -_ZF . T —FR-_FT-_—F
T+ A=Z+—HLEZEFESF  BBES T
AEEREREWT :

Headcount for the year
ended 31 December

HE+-A=T-HLEFENAR

2020 2021 2022
—E-FTF —E-—F —E_——

Sales and marketing HEMTIGEE 3 3 3
Production (including quality control) AE(BIEEEES]) 1 2 2
Finance and administration B R AT 5 5 5
Procurement PREE 1 1 1
10 11 11

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS ESMe

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rule (“CG Code”), the Company has established
the Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ remuneration is subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions of such Directors
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based
remuneration. No Director, or any of their respective associates, was
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no borrowings or charges on
the Group’s assets (2021: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any specific plan for material investments or

acquisitions of capital assets as at 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

Please refer to page 42 to page 43 for information about risk
management and internal control systems.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was in compliance
with all the laws and regulations applicable to the business operations of
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As of the date of this report, the Group has no significant events after the
Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors, Supewisors and Senior Management

55

BERR S REEA S NEEES

Biographical details of the Directors, supervisors and senior management
of the Company are set out as follows:

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of 7 Directors including 4 executive
Directors, and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. He Keng, aged 47, has been the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director since 13 December 2016. Mr. He resigned as a
chairman of Zhejiang RuiYuan Machine Tool Co., Ltd* (“RuiYuan
Machine Tool”) on 30 April 2019 and joined Zhejiang Zhu Ji RuiYuan
Machine Tool Group Co., Ltd* (/I #EEREKKEBBR A )
(“RuiYuan Machine Tool Group”), which, RuiYuan Machine Tool, is a
Member of the RuiYuan Group, as chairman on 1 May 2019. He has
extensive experience in corporate management. He worked in the
Bank of China Shaoxing Branch from July 1997 to January 2005,
during which he served as the account manager of the corporate
account department, the head of the sub-operating office and the
president of Zhuji Xincheng Sub-branch respectively. Mr. He
graduated from Zhejiang University with a major in accounting and
financial management.

Ms. Wu Shanhong, aged 37, has been an executive Director since 13
December 2016. Ms. Wu resigned as the chief financial controller of
RuiYuan Machine Tool on 30 April 2019 and joined RuiYuan Machine
Tool Group as financial controller on 1 May 2019. She has years of
work experience in finance. Ms. Wu Shanhong graduated from
Southwest Jiaotong University with a major in accounting.

Mr. Chen Weigiang, aged 41, has been an executive Director since 13
December 2016. Mr. Chen resigned from RuiYuan Machine Tool on
30 April 2019 and joined RuiYuan Machine Tool Group as the
manager of market department on 1 May 2019. Mr. Chen Weigiang
graduated from Southwest University of Science and Technology with
a major in economic information management and computer
application.

Ms. Zou Jing, aged 36, has been an executive Director since 25
March 2021. Ms. Zou is the deputy general manage and a joint
secretary of the Company. She is responsible for the daily operation
and management and the company secretarial affairs of the Company.
Ms. Zou Jing graduated from Yangtze University (Business
Administration).
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie, aged 51, has been an independent non-
executive Director since 20 June 2012. Mr. Kwok currently has been
providing corporate advising services as professional accountant in Hong
Kong. He has also been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Siberian Mining Group Company Limited, and Winshine
Science Company Limited companies listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), since
February 2014 and March 2019, respectively. He was previously
appointed as financial controller, company secretary and authorised
representative of Forebase International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Kwok is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. He holds a Master of Professional Accounting
Degree from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a Master of
Corporate Governance Degree from the Open University of Hong Kong
(now known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University) and a Honours
Diploma in Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known
as Hong Kong Shue Yan University).

Mr. Zhou Weibo, aged 47, a senior engineer, a first-class certified
architect. He has been an independent non-executive Directors since 30
April 2019. Mr. Zhou has been working in the construction industry since
1998. He is currently a project manager and technical director of HAMO
Construction Group Co., Ltd.* ( 32 8 Z % &£ B H R A 7 ), with rich
experience in project management and operation. Mr. Zhou graduated
from Zhejiang University with a major in electrical technology

Ms. Sheng Ting, aged 33, has been an independent non-executive
Directors since 30 April 2019. She is currently a manager in the business
department of Zhejiang Wuchan Zhongda Asset Management Co., Ltd.*
(HIWES XKEEEE AR A A ). She successively served as an
auditor in the operations management department of Zhejiang Wuchan
Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.* (I ¥EMEHEHR A F]) and a business
manager at Hangzhou Branch of Zhejiang Chouzhou Commercial Bank.
Ms. Sheng graduated from Shanghai University of Electric Power with a
major in Computer Science and Technology.

* For identification purpose only
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SUPERVISORS

Mr. Guo Fanggiang, aged 52, a senior engineer, has been a supervisor of
the Company (the “Supervisor”) since 4 November 2020, a senior
engineer, is the technical director of the Company. He joined Zhejiang
RuiYuan Machine Tool Co., Ltd. in 2005, successively served as various
positions including an electrical engineer, a production director and
deputy general manager. In 2019, he joined Zhejiang Zhuji RuiYuan
Machine Tool Group Co., Ltd. and has been its deputy general manager.
He has extensive experience in production management and operation.
Mr. Guo Fanggiang graduated from Harbin Institute of Ship Engineering
(now known as Harbin Engineering University) majoring in underwater
acoustic and electronic engineering in July 1991.

Mr. Zhang Shenggen, aged 75, has been the Supervisor since 13
December 2016. Mr. Zhang resigned from RuiYuan Machine Tool on 30
April 2019 and joined RuiYuan Machine Tool Group as the manager of
sales department on 1 May 2019 and is currently the head of the
corporate management department of RuiYuan Machine Tool Group. Mr.
Zhang Shenggen graduated from University of Hangzhou* with a major in
administrative management.

Mr. Chen Yuankang, aged 48, has been the Supervisor since 13
December 2016. Mr. Chen resigned from RuiYuan Machine Tool on 30
April 2019 and joined RuiYuan Machine Tool Group as the manager of
sales department on 1 May 2019 and is currently the head of the
production department of RuiYuan Machine Tool Group. Mr. Chen
Yuankang is experienced in production management.

* For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT BREERE

Ms. Zou Jing. For biography of Ms. Zou, please refer to “Directors” #eizt - AP LLTNBESL2H X [EE] -
above.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES BEATAME

Ms. Zou Jing. For biography of Ms. Zou, please refer to “Directors” #gF4+t - BT LTHNEFEXH X[EE] -
above.

Mr. Cheng Ching Kit, is one of the joint company secretaries of the — EFIZEE%E A4 - ARATHE A TME 2 — o B4
Company. Mr. Cheng is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate 4 & FEICXRGER (FB) BERAT(—K=E
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a professional services provider — #H)(MERGIZMHE) 2 BI4AE - ROEMER
specialising in corporate services, and has over 10 years of experience in =~ K #HEBHEA B+ EK 5% - HE2018FERBE S
corporate secretarial field. He is an associate member of both The Hong ARAEABAEULRRERTFARGEATZE
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance =+ ° Iit4h - RiFERNETHASHE L (£8)
Institute in the United Kingdom since 2018. In addition, he holds a Bachelor {1 [ &S AESKEE L+ (FREDE) 23X -

of Commerce degree in finance from the University of Queensland,

Australia and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese law from the University

of Hong Kong.
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The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

Our major business included engaging in the design, manufacture and
sales of computer numerical control (“CNC”) machine tools optical and
mechanical products, sales of controller systems for electronic equipment
and electronic component and subassembly for electronic appliances.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

Analysis of the Group’s performance for the Reporting Period by
geographical segments is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the Reporting Period and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 in this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 56.

POSSIBLE RISK EXPOSURE AND UNCERTAINTIES
Credit Risk

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to the failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arose from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
other debtor at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
Please refer to Note 33(b) to the consolidated financial statements for
details of credit risk.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group was not exposed to any fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its
variable rate bank balances. However, the Group considered that the
effect of the cash flow interest rate is minimal and no sensitivity analysis
to interest rate risk is presented. Please refer to Note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements for details of interest rate risk.

Liquidity Risk

The Group was exposed to liquidity risk as at 31 December 2022 as its
financial assets due within one year were less than its financial liabilities
due with in one year. The Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB48,834,000 as at 31 December 2022. The liquidity of
the Group depends upon the positive cash flows expected to be
generated from the Group’s future operations and the Group’s ability to
successfully obtain new working capital in order to meet the Group’s
future working capital and financial requirements. Please refer to Note
33(b) to the consolidated financial statements for details of liquidity risk.

Currency risk

The Group operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB. All of the financial assets at amortised
cost are denominated in RMB. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign
currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise. Please refer to Note 33(b) to the consolidated financial statements
for details of currency risk.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 59. The Company has no reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the PRC, which will
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RIGHTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND
SUPERVISORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors, chief
executives (the “Chief Executives”) (if any) or supervisors of the Company
(the “Supervisors”) or their spouse or children under the age of 18 was
granted any right to acquire shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”)), or had exercised any such right.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 148.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the Reporting
Period. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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SHARE SCHEMES

As at the date of this report, the Company does not have any share
scheme and no option or share award has been granted or agreed to be
granted by the Company to any of its Directors, Supervisors or
employees of the Company or its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Keng (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shanhong

Mr. Chen Weigiang

Ms. Zou Jing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie
Mr. Zhou Weibo
Ms. Sheng Ting

In accordance with Articles 88 and 112 of the Articles of Association, the
Directors and Supervisors appointed by the Board since last
shareholders’ annual general meeting shall be elected at the coming
shareholders’ general meeting for a term of three years. A Director or
supervisor may serve consecutive terms if re-elected upon the expiration
of the terms.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and senior
management are set out on page 12 to page 15.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
INFORMATION

There is no change in the Directors’ and Supervisors’ information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years from his/her date of
appointment as a Director or, as the case may be, as a Supervisor and
thereafter subject to termination by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

No Directors or Supervisors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Apart from the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts disclosed
above, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or a Supervisor of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or at
any time during the Reporting Period.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for as disclosed under the section headed “Permitted Indemnity
Provision”, no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to
which the Company, or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2022 or
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022. In addition, no
contract of significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no Directors or their
respective associates has engaged in or has any interest in any business
which were in competition or were likely to compete, directly or indirectly
with the business of the Group.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the controlling shareholders of the Company or their subsidiary
has or had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract
of significance, whether for the provision of services or otherwise, to the
business of the group to which the company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PLEDGE OF SHARES BY SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December
2017 (the “Announcement”), the Company was notified that, an
aggregate of 322,675,000 domestic shares of the Company (the
“Pledged Shares”) held by Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Robot Company
Limited* (41 /I ¥ & %5 82 # 28 A B0 B IR 2 7)) (‘RuiYuan Robot”), the
Company’s controlling shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules),
has been pledged to an independent third party for serving RuiYuan
Robot’s own purpose and fulfilling its responsibility. The Pledged Shares
represented approximately 64.535% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of the Announcement. The pledge of the
Pledged Shares did not fall within the scope of Rule 17.19 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2022, the interests
and short position of each Director, Chief Executive and Supervisor in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance), as required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
to be recorded in the register referred to therein or as otherwise notified
to be Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum
standards of dealing of securities by directors and supervisors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rule, were as
follows:
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EFRREE

Long positions in shares

Name of Director/

R EFRE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interested in

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Chief Executive/ same class of interested in the
Supervisor Number of Shares interested (Note 1)  Nature of interest securities registered capital
ERERES hE &R
EE /BRH BREEERN BREEERN
AB/EEHE FEEZNRABE (KE1) EHEME RHBEDL RHE D
Mr. He Keng 370,000,000 Domestic Shares (Note 2) Interest of controlled 100.00% 74.00%
8% 370,000,000 B & % (F3E2) corporation
REEEES
1,000 H Shares (Note 3) Beneficial owner 0.0008% 0.0002%
1,000 B H & (Pf3E3) EnEAA
Ms. Zou Jing 4,225,000 H Shares Beneficial owner 3.25% 0.845%
Pt 4,225,000 3 H: EnlEA
Notes: PffE
1) Domestic Shares of a nominal value of RMB0.10 each ( the “Domestic Shares”), in the ©) AARGFMEAFFREABARK0IOTHARER (TR
registered capital of the Company, which are subscribed for or credited as fully-paid in B TIAANRERELABIESE - HRAEAAQT
Renminbi. H Share(s) represent overseas listed foreign share(s) of a nominal value of AMEATFREEARKEI0OTTHEI ETHINERR
RMBO.10 each (“H Share(s)”) in the registered capital of the Company, which are listed (THA&]) - RGEM £ - WEAB TREREE -
on the GEM and subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars.
2 On 11 July 2016, RuiYuan Robot entered into a share transfer agreement with Wan Li ) RITE—RFLtA+—HBH HEEEAEEBERER
Group Company Limited (& 2L E£ B 5 B R A F]) (‘Wanli”), Mr. Qi Yong Qiang BHERAR(EBE]) - mBRAE(TEE]) REM
(“Mr. Qi") and other parties, pursuant to which, among other things, RuiYuan Robot TR — RGO R - Bt (HheRE) mEESA
agreed to acquire (i) 306,900,000 Domestic Shares held by Wanli and 15,775,000 &) & U BE () & 2 5 % #9306,900,000 f& W& A% &7 58 &
Domestic Shares held by Mr. Qi (collectively the “First Batch Sale Shares”) and (i) HHM15,775,000 R N ERR (FTEA(TE—HEERH 1)
47,325,000 Domestic Shares held by Mr. Qi (the “Second Batch Sale Shares”). After (i) T e A 45 B 59 47,325,000 RN A AR ([ 58 — LS & IR
completion of the transfer of the First Batch Sale Shares and the Second Batch Sale B RE-—RHERORE —HHERODERTK
Shares, Mr. He Keng and parties acting in concert with it owned an aggregate of f& A48 % £ R K — 5178 77 & # ¥ A 370,000,000 A%
370,000,000 Domestic Shares, representing approximately 74% of the entire issued NER  HARAR T —F+_A=+—HHZHF
share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022. BEETIRNLI74% °
3 As a result of the mandatory cash offer following the sale and purchase of the First @) BEEFHHERMRE _HHERM 2 BHBHIIMEIR
Batch Sale Shares and the Second Batch Sale Shares (the “Mandatory Cash Offer”), SELH(RIERSEHN])R=_Z—RFALA+EAT
which closed at 4 pm on 14 September 2016, Mr. He Keng acquired valid OB 4B R 1 - AR S A UK B A5 #8 1,000 A H IR A9 B )
acceptances in respect of 1,000 H Shares, Accordingly, Mr. He Keng was interested B Bl RZZE-ZF+-A=+—H " [@ABL4E
in 1,000 H Shares as at 31 December 2022. 741,000 A% H 3% P #E B fg s o
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December & X frigE &N REE T -+ -4

2022 did the Directors, Chief Executives and Supervisors (including their
spouse and children under 18 years of age) have any interest in, or had
they been granted, or exercised, any rights to subscribe for shares of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of SFO).
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Re ort of the Directors
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Apart from the above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement enabling the Directors, Chief Executives and Supervisors of
the Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporation.

Furthermore, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was
there any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporation.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN
THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2022, the persons
or companies (other than the Directors, Chief Executive or Supervisors of
the Company) have interests and/or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO and recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO, and who were directly or indirectly deemed to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
the Company are listed as follows:

BEXFTHEIN REE-_T=_—_F+=A
—+—BIEFERTERE - AR B 5 E A
BRARMETIENLE  BEFEARAEE &
BITRA B REERHE AR REBE ZE /R
% ABRERD REH MRS IAR ©

o REBE T - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE
RIS RS - WERTS (AL FE B A5
BAR RS EAEE 2 R s E S mERFIE -

FERRRAQ AR KA R K5

3¢
m

MEEM RZTZ=F+=_A=+—H M
TALTHA E(ZIK AEE BaTBRABRE
EBRIN) AR R AR T B REE
HEREEIEFIEXVEE2 M3V ENBEAME
AARRERFT UERBRBEESFRBE G E
336ﬂxfﬁpaﬁm%\mﬁﬁkmaﬂﬂﬂé 55K

C LARER B EE SRR SRR A R T
ﬁ’l%iRTEZ!S AR R RS EIRE 2 A M85
A% AR EIE 5% sk A 2 #E2s

Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding shareholding
interested interested in
Name of Substantial Number of in same class of the registered
Shareholder Shares interested (Note 1) Nature of interest securities capital
HRERES HEMmEL
BRBEREN BRSERREN
TERFHEEB RERZNHROHE (W) BHEME ROBDL ROBEDL
I3 A RuiYuan Robot 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Beneficial owner 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000k W E R ExBAA
(Notes 2, 3 and 4)
(BfiF2-3%4)
MM EREREERD 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
(MM ) 370,000,000 ;R W& FEEEER
(Hangzhou Qindie Electronic (Notes 2 and 5)
Equipment Company Limited”) (W2 ks)
(*Hangzhou Qindie”)
* For identification purpose only * ERBF
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Approximate Approximate
percentage of percentage of
shareholding shareholding
interested interested in
Name of Substantial Number of in same class of the registered
Shareholder Shares interested (Note 1) Nature of interest securities capital
hEERES HEmER
BOREREN BAREREN
TERFHE/EB RERZNHROHE (1) ERME RO DL ROEDL
RESEUERBERAA(ZELE)) 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
(Zhuji Jinfu Electrical Equipment 370,000,000k WE & FmEEER
Company Limited") (“Zhuiji Jinfu”) (Notes 2 and 5)
(B2 %5)
AEVEETRIREB AR ([AEDE]) 47,325,000 Domestic Shares Nominee 12.79% 9.47%
(Shaoxmg Qinyuan Electronic Technology 47,325,000 B E & REA
Company Limited®) (*Shaoxing Qinyuan”) (Notes 2 and 6)
(Wizt2%6)
{2554 Mr. He Keng 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000 R A E R FmEEER
(Notes 2, 5 and 6)
(B2 5X%6)
1,000 H Shares Beneficial owner 0.0008% 0.0002%
1,000 H iR ERBEBA
(Note 7)
(Hi#7)
%2 A& Mr. Tang Jingfeng 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000 R W& ik REEFEER
(Notes 2, 5 and 6)
(M2 5%6)
#1584 Mr. Zhao Zhongxin 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000 kW& i Rt ER
(Notes 2 and 5)
(Hzt2 k5)
{1518 %L & Mr. He Yanggen 370,000,000 Domestic Shares Interest of controlled corporation 100.00% 74.00%
370,000,000k W E R FmEEER
(Notes 2 and 5)
(B2 %5)
Martin Currie China Hedge Fund Limited 14,245,000 H Shares Investment manager 10.96% 2.85%
14,245,000 B HAR AR 3 RERE
Martin Currie Investment 14,245,000 H Shares Investment manager 10.96% 2.85%
Management Limited 14,245,000 i H & 15 RELE
* For identification purposes only * ERBF
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1) Domestic Shares of a nominal value of RMBO.10 each, in the registered capital of the
Company, which are subscribed for or credited as fully-paid in Renminbi. H Share(s)
represent overseas listed foreign share(s) of a nominal value of RMB0.10 each in the
registered capital of the Company, which are listed on the GEM and subscribed for
and traded in Hong Kong dollars.

) On 11 July 2016, RuiYuan Robot entered into a share transfer agreement with Wanli,
Mr. Qi and other parties, pursuant to which, among other things, RuiYuan Robot
agreed to acquire (i) the First Batch Sale Shares from Wanli and Mr. Qi and (i) the
Second Batch Sale Shares from Mr. Qi. After completion of the transfer of the First
Batch Sale Shares and the Second Batch Sale Shares, RuiYuan Robot and parties
acting in concert with it owned an aggregate of 370,000,000 Domestic Shares,
representing 74% of the entire issued share of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

©)) As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2017,
RuiYuan Robot has pledged its 322,675,000 domestic shares of the Company
(representing 64.535% of the total issued share capital of the Company) to an
independent third party for serving Zhejiang RuiYuan’s own purpose and fulfilling its
responsibilities.

(4) RuiYuan Robot is a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
and is owned as to 55% by Hangzhou Qindie and as to 45% by Zhuiji Jinfu.

(5) Hangzhou Qindie is a company established in the PRC and is owned as to 51% by Mr.
He and as to 49% by Mr. Tang Jingfeng. Zhuiji Jinfu is a company established in the
PRC and is owned as to 50% by Mr. Zhao Zhongxin and as to 50% by Mr. He
Yanggen.

6) Shaoxing Qinyuan,to whom the second Batch Sale Shares were transferred, is the
nominee for RuiYuan Robot and a company that is owned as to 60% by Mr. He and
40% by Mr. Tang Jinfeng.

(7) After the Mandatory Cash Offer closed, Mr. He Keng acquired valid acceptances in
respect of 1,000 H Shares. Accordingly, Mr. He Keng was interested in 1,000 H
Shares.

Save as discussed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
(other than the Directors whose interests are set out in the section
headed “Directors’, Chief Executives’ and Supervisors’ Interests and
Short Positions” above) holding any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were required to be recorded in the register pursuant to section
336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong
Kong) when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out on page 31 to
page 48 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Reporting Period
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
— the largest customer 47%
— five largest customers combined 99%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 70%
— five largest suppliers combined 100%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has an interest in the major suppliers and major customers noted
above.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

According to our business nature and pursuant to the relevant laws of
the PRC/Hong Kong, there are no specific environmental standards and/
or requirements for conducting the Group’s business.

Please refer to the Company’s 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report published separately for details about environmental,
social and governance matters.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group ensures that all the employees are reasonably remunerated
and maintains good relationship with its employees. For details, please
refer to the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Employees and Remuneration Policies” and “Report of the Directors —
Corporate Social Responsibilities” of this annual report, respectively. The
Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace for its
employees and encourage them to have a work-life balance.

On 7 November 2016, a former employee of the Company, filed a claim
with the Labour Tribunal of Hong Kong against the Company and its
former subsidiary, Hong Kong Wan Li Enterprise Company Limited
(together the “Respondent”) for a compensation of approximately
HK$2,600,000. As of the date of this report, the dispute between the
Claimant and the Group are still in progress, the result of the case has
not yet come up and the Directors are of the opinion that the Company
has strong grounds to defend the claim. An amount of RMB86,000 was
made in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022, and no further provisions was made thereafter.

Details of the dispute are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers. The sales
personnel make regular visits and/or phone calls to the customers. If
there is any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the
management and immediate remedial action will be taken and feedback
from customers will be followed till settlement of the complaint.
Thereafter, the cause of such complaint will be studied, analysed and
evaluated and recommendations will be in place for improvement.

The Group also maintains good relationship with its suppliers. During the
year, no complaint was received from the suppliers and there were no
disputed debts or unsettled debts and all the debts were settled on or
before due dates or a latest date as mutually agreed.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 are
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on page 31 to page 48.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group, are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the transactions described therein fall under the definition of
connected transaction which are not fully exempted from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirement under chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations was made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As of the date of this report, there are no significant events after the
Reporting Period.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, Supervisors and the controlling shareholders of
the Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) had any interest in any business that directly or indirectly
competes with the business of the Group or has any other conflicts of
interest.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matter, including the review of the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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AUDITORS

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited has resigned as the auditors of the Group with
effect from 14 January 2022. KTC Partners CPA Limited has been
appointed as the auditors of the Group with effect from 14 January 2022
to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited. Save as disclosed above, there have been no other changes of
auditors in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited, who shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

He Keng
Chairman

Ningbo, The PRC, 24 March 2023
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Unless otherwise stated, reference of the code provisions made in this
corporate governance report in relation to the CG Code is referred to the
provisions contained in the Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules in force
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance.

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate
governance practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The
Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework
that is essential for effective management, successful business growth
and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

Continuous efforts are made to review and enhance the Group’s internal
controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations and
developments in best practices. To us, maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices is not just complying with the provisions
but also the intent of the regulations to enhance corporate performance
and accountability.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied
with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code except the following
deviation (code provision C.2.1):

Mr. He Keng is the chairman of the Board. The Company has no such
title as the chief executive officer and the daily operation and
management of the Company is monitored by the executive directors as
well as the senior management. The Board is of the view that although
there is no chief executive officer, the balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced
individuals and meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting the
operations of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has appointed 3 independent non-executive Directors.
The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company still considers all
the existing independent non-executive Directors to be independent. All
the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a three-year
term.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Rule
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding transactions in securities of the Company by the Directors and
Supervisors (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry with
all Directors and Supervisors, the Directors and Supervisors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard of dealings and the
Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2022. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Code of
Conduct by the relevant employee during the Reporting Period.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the GEM Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:

Executive Directors Mr. He Keng (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shanhong
Mr. Chen Weigiang

Ms. Zou Jing

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie
Mr. Zhou Weibo
Ms. Sheng Ting

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprises seven members,
including four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Each of the members possesses sufficient experience and
qualification which enable them to discharge their duties properly.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including age, education background, skills and
experience.

The Company has formulated internal policies (including but not limited to
the Articles of Association, the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee and the nomination policy) to ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and input. These policies cover the Company’s
procedures and selection criteria for the election of directors (including
independent non-executive directors), the right of independent non-
executive directors to propose a suspension of proposals by the Board.
The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanisms and believes that the above mechanism can ensure
that the Board obtains independent views and input.

The chairman of the Board is responsible for the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall development strategies. The daily operation is
delegated to the executive Directors and senior management. None of
the independent non-executive Directors is interested in the business of
the Group and their independence has to be confirmed upon
appointment or re-appointment. Currently, there is no financial, business,
family or other relevant material relationship among the existing Directors.

According to the Articles of Association, all the Directors shall be elected
at the general meeting of the shareholders and the term of office shall be
three years, renewable upon re-appointment or re-election.
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ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

Board meetings are conducted on a periodic basis and with reference to
the operation needs. During the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
a total of 5 Board meetings and 1 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were
held by Company, and the attendance of each Director is set out as
follows:

Number of meetings attended in

ERHETE

EEEEMMREBAFETES REE_T
TCEFT A=+ —HIEFER ARFAHE
TERERSTERMIRBERBERE ([RE
FRE])  BUEEZHEBEREAFIOT

Attendance/Number of
meetings held

the year ended 31 December 2022 HE/BITERERY
RBZE-E2--&#+=-A=+—H Board
HEERHEESRRE meetings AGM
Name of Director EEHE Ezegel BREFAE
Mr. He Keng (Chairman) % HE (£E) 5/5 11
Ms. Wu Shanhong RAT 22+ 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chen Weigiang PRIZSR A& 5/5 1/1
Ms. Zou Jing Paget 5/5 1/1
Mr. Zhou Weibo BEREE 5/5 1/1
Ms. Sheng Ting Bt 5/5 1/1
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie SR A 5/5 11

The chairman of the Board attended AGM to answer questions and
collect views of shareholders. All Directors, company secretary and the
auditors had attended the AGM to answer questions at the meeting.

Except for the AGM, the Company did not hold any other general
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND OF REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in Note 13 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

The Company has one senior management member. Pursuant to code
provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, remuneration of senior management by
band of remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out
below:

Remuneration bands

o EiRe]
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No. of individual

AH

RMB1 to RMB1,000,000
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and be
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and
managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting the
Group’s values and standards. The Board delegates the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group to management.
The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure
that they accommodate the needs of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. At least
10 days’ notice of regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and
they can include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think fit.
The agenda accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors at least
3 days or a shorter period agreed by the directors before the date of a
regular Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the Directors to
review the documents.

Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their
perusal and comments prior to confirmation of the minutes. The Board
also ensures that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge
its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of the
company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed and they are also entitled
to have full access to Board papers and related materials so that they are
able to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. He Keng (“Mr. He”) is the chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and policy making of
the Group.

The Company has no such title as the chief executive officer and
therefore the daily operation and management of the Company is
monitored by the executive Directors as well as the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no chief executive officer,
the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals and meet from time to
time to discuss issues affecting operation of the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected at
general meetings and shall hold office for a term of three years and shall
be eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term. Each of the executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of three years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. All Directors also participate in
continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. A
record of the training received by the respective Directors are kept and
updated by the company secretary of the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended
31 December 2022 is summarized below:

HE-_T-—F+-_A=t—HIFE KEF
P 853l 2 @R R Rt an T

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/conference(s)
relevant to the business or
Directors’ duties
LEEHERSESHE
E#E/ 8 gEER

Mr. He Keng (Chairman) AEE (F/E)
Ms. Wu Shanhong R+

Mr. Chen Weigiang BRIZREE

Ms. Zou Jing Bzt

Mr. Zhou Weibo BRREE

Ms. Sheng Ting BiEZ+

Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie BRIELE

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating any suitable
training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises
3 independent non-executive Directors, who have reviewed the annual
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. Mr. Kwok
Kim Hung, Eddie, is the chairman of the Audit Committee who has
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality
of internal control and ensuring that the financial performance of the
Company is properly measured and reported on, receiving and reviewing
reports from management and the auditors relating to the annual,
quarterly and interim results, and monitoring the accounting and internal
control system in use throughout the Group. The Audit Committee held 5
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least 4 times a year. 5 meetings were held for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The attendance of each member is
set out as follows:

REREBESE  FEREESTFAELRIT
AREZ -BE_T-_—_F+= HE+ =Nl
B EBZZESERITTSNER - SUKEBZ
LR ERES AT

Attendance/

Number of

meetings held

HiE BT

Name of members of Audit Committee BERZEENERSR SERY
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie (Chairman) SR E (FE) 5/5
Mr. Zhou Weibo BRREE 5/5
Ms. Sheng Ting BELt 5/5

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have an internal audit
function but had appointed an external consultant to review the material
controls of the Group on a continuous basis and aims to cover all major
operations of the Group on a cyclical basis. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, reviewed the appraisal performed by the an independent
auditor on the Company’s risk management and internal control systems.
Based on information furnished to it and its own observations, the Board
is satisfied that the present internal control and risk management systems
of the Group are effective and adequate in all material respects.

At the meetings held during the Reporting Period, in performing its duties
in accordance with its terms of reference, the work performed by the
Audit Committee included:

(@ review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control system and risk management of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(b)  recommendation to the Board, for the approval by shareholders, of
the re-appointment of the external auditor and approval of their
remuneration;

(c)  determination of the nature and scope of the audit; and

(d)  review the financial statements for the relevant periods.

38 ANNUAL REPORT 2022
R FFR

CEEE

i, =
By g

REBEEA - A B I A A= R
mIMNEER RS EEERRALREER
Eﬁ%%mﬁ§$$l%ﬁ$§¥$ %%@L
BECZESELE L REME AR A RGEE R
K BRI R AT RO R4 © %ﬁ%ﬁﬁfméﬂ&
BNER EXSEAAREE R NARESD
MEBERERFEMBEATHTZERLITE °

@ BEMEBARRMEMBARZIEHR
Wi - ABEREAGRERERE

B RN BB AL AL
MRS RBERILE

b)) MEZRGHE
BEZME

© EEEZIJUEERHE: K

(d) BZREWHEHBHRE -



Corporate Governance Report
s pe S/ E
rEERWRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 22 March 2012 comprising the 3
independent non-executive Directors and 1 executive Director. Ms.
Sheng Ting is the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available at the
Company’s website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include
consulting the chairman of the Board about their remuneration proposals
for other executive Directors, making recommmendation to the Board on
the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management and the Remuneration Committee has adopted the
approach under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a
year. 2 meetings was held during the year ended 31 December 2022.
During the meetings, remuneration packages, performance and service
contracts of the Directors had been reviewed and approved, no change
has been proposed to the remuneration policy. In addition, the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee has been amended on 16
December 2022 to meet the new requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

yMEES
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Attendance/

Number of

meetings held

Name of members of HE BT
Remuneration Committee FHZEERERR EEVE
Ms. Sheng Ting (Chairman) Bish+(FE) 2/2
Mr. He Keng L E 2/2
Mr. Zhou Weibo BT E 212
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie BRI E 2/2

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY CO

39

DipAR P S BR AR



Corporate Governance Report
s pe S/ E
rEERWRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 22 March 2012 comprising the 3 independent non-
executive Directors and 1 executive Director. Mr. Zhou Weibo is currently
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available at the Company’s website and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board at least once a year, making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategies, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members (select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships), assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors in particular the Chairman; and reporting to the Board on its
decisions or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy to have a well
diversified Board of Directors by considering a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural/education and
professional background, skills, knowledge and experience.

The Board consists of seven Directors, three of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee and Board are of
the view that the diversity of the Board is embodied in terms of age, skills,
expertise, knowledge and educational background.

The Company attaches great importance to gender diversity. As at the
date of this report, the proportion of female Directors on the Board
reached 43%, including 3 female Directors among the 7 Directors,
representing a relatively high level of gender diversity. The Company will
regularly review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure that it meets the
Company’s needs and reflects regulatory regulations and good corporate
governance practices.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for directors. The factors
considered by the Nomination Committee in assessing candidates
include, but are not limited to: (a) the structure, size and composition of
the Board; (b) the diversity of the Board in terms of background, skill and
experience (including but not limited to gender, age, education and
professional background, skills, knowledge and experience); (c) the
compliance with the independence criteria set out in Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules for the appointment of independent non-executive
directors; and (d) any other relevant factors as determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time, and make
recommendations on appointing board candidates or re-appointing
existing members of the Board.

The appointments of directors will be proposed to the Board after the
Nomination Committee assesses the above factors. The Nomination
Committee will annually assess and report to the Board on the
composition of the Board in a context of diversity and keep an watch on
the implementation thereof.

Meeting of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a year.
1 meeting was held during the year ended 31 December 2022. Issues
concerning the structure, size and composition of the Board were
discussed.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

meetings held

Name of members of HE BT
Nomination Committee REZEEHERSB EEVE
Mr. Zhou Weibo (Chairman) BRREE(FE) n
Mr. He Keng L 11
Ms. Sheng Ting Bigmt+ 11
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung Eddie PR E 11
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and information to the
Board and reports regularly to the Board on financial position and
prospects of the business of the Company so as to enable the Board to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group. The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements
prepared by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of
the Company. A statement by auditor about their reporting responsibility
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining adequate system of internal
controls and risk management within the Group and for reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems of internal controls and risk management are
designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations, to safeguard
assets and to ensure the quality of internal and external reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. They are also designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material
misstatement or loss can be avoided, and to manage and minimize risks
of failure in operation systems. The Company is committed to
implementing a stricter and more regulated internal control and risk
management procedures in the new financial year.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board engaged an
external consultant conduct a review on the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems and its effectiveness. No significant area of
concern that may affect the financial, operational, compliance, internal
control and risk management of the Group has been identified, and
considers them effective and adequate.

The Group conducts review of the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems and its effectiveness regularly to ensure the
interest of shareholders is safeguarded.
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OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

° to strengthen the Company’s risk (including the material risks
relating to environmental, social and governance) management and
internal control in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules
requirements;

° to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control systems; and

° to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
THREE-TIER RISK MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring
risks associated with each business or deal. The finance department, as
the second line of defence, defines rule sets and models, oversees and
reports risk management matters to the Board. It ensures that risks are
within the acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the final line of defence, the Board together with audit committee of
the Company, with the professional advices and opinions from the
external professional Company by whom internal audit work of the Group
was conducted on annual basis, ensures that the first and second lines
of defence are effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

PRINCIPLES OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Our risk management and internal control systems involve five elements
as internal environment, risk assessment, control activities, information
and communication and internal supervision. The aim of internal control
is to reasonably guarantee the compliance of its operation and
management with regulations and laws, assets security, and authenticity
and integrity of financial report and related information, improve the
efficiency and effectiveness of operating activities and promote the
realization of development strategy of the Group.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for the appointment
of the external auditors, including the engagement of non-auditing tasks
and fees. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 was audited by KTC
Partners CPA Limited and the fees paid for the audit of the Group’s
financial statements are set out as follows:

SMNEB AL BED

RRB|EZZESBEZEINEZEE - BIE3E
ZEHENTIERER REBEEZZT-_F+=
B=+—BIEFERN  MESTMELABERRD
AEREBEE T _F+-_A=+—HLLFEN
MR EEABZAEEU BRI ANERE
EFT

Fee paid/payable

e EBNNER

RMB’000

Services Rendered FriR L IR TS AREFIT
Audit Service EZRE 581
Non-audit services IEEAZ RS -
581

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zou Jing (“Ms. Zou”) and Mr. Cheng Ching Kit (“Mr. Cheng”) were
appointed as the joint company secretaries of the Company on 7
February 2018 and 11 June 2018 respectively. The biographical details
of Ms. Zou and Mr. Cheng are set out under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”.

Mr. Cheng is an assistant vice president of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, and assists Ms. Zou in company secretarial
affairs. The primary corporate contact person of Mr. Cheng at the
Company is Ms. Zou.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Ms. Zou and Mr.
Cheng have taken separately no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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INVESTORS’ RELATIONS

The Company places great emphasis on its relationship and
communication with investors. The Company has numerous
communication channels, such as press conference and seminars, to
communicate with the media, analysts and fund managers. Designated
senior management staff holds dialogue with analysts, fund managers
and investors, who are also arranged to visit the Company and
investment projects from time to time, so as to keep them abreast of the
Group’s business and latest developments. In addition, investors can
also visit the Company’s website at www.ruiyuanhk.com for the most
updated information and the status of the business development of the
Group.

There had been no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022. Investors can
obtain the latest Articles of Association from the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has a shareholder communication policy that sets out
strategies for promoting effective communication with Shareholders to
ensure that Shareholders receive sufficient information and enable them to
actively participate in the Company’s activities and exercise their rights
knowingly.

The Board and senior management recognise the responsibility of
safeguarding the interest of Shareholders and provide highly transparent
and real-time information on the Company so as to keep the Shareholders
and investors abreast of the Company’s position and help them to make
the best investment decision. The Company believes that maintaining
good and effective communication with shareholders can facilitate the
Shareholders’ understanding of the business performance and strategies
of the Group. The Board and senior management also recognise the
responsibility of safeguarding the interest of the Shareholders. In order to
safeguard the Shareholders’ interest, the Company reports its financial
and operating performance to Shareholders through annual reports,
interim reports and quarterly reports. Shareholders can also obtain
information of the Group in time through annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, announcements, circulars, press releases and the
Company’s website (www.ruiyuanhk.com).

The annual general meetings are an appropriate forum for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Shareholders
can raise questions directly to the Board in respect of the performance
and future development of the Group at annual general meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the policy and its
implementation and is of the view that it remains effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide guidance to the
Board on whether to declare and distribute dividends. In order to keep
sufficient reserves for the future development of the Company, the Board
will appraise its dividend policy based on the operations and earnings,
cash flow, financial position, capital and other reserve requirements and
surplus, contractual restrictions and its overall financial conditions and
any other conditions or factors that the Board considers relevant, so as
to determine or recommend dividends for any financial year and also the
number, amount and form of dividends paid.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the
place as may be determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other
than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general
meeting (‘EGM”).

RIGHT TO CONVENE EGM

Pursuant to Article 52 of the Articles of Association, shareholders
individually or jointly holding 10% or more of the Company’s issued
shares carrying voting rights requests in writing to the Company’s
registered office: Factory No. 3, Laiyan Road West Economic
Development Zone (South Side) Yu Yao Zhejiang China for convening of
an extraordinary general meeting.

To convene a general meeting, the Company shall give written notices no
less than 45 days before the date of the meeting, informing all registered
shareholders of the matters proposed to be considered at the meeting
and the date and place of the meeting. Shareholders who intend to
attend the meeting shall return the written reply of attendance to the
Company to be received by the Company 20 days before the date of the
meeting.
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The Company shall calculate, according to the written replies received 20
days before the date of the meeting, the number of shares carrying voting
rights represented by the shareholders attending the meeting. The
Company may convene a general meeting if the number of shares
carrying voting rights represented by shareholders intending to attend
aggregates to more than half of the total number of shares carrying such
rights. If not, the Company shall make an announcement within five days,
once again notifying the shareholders of the matters proposed to be
considered and the date and place of the meeting. Once an
announcement has been so made, the Company may convene the
general meeting.

Shareholders requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting or class
meeting shall abide by the following procedures:

(i) Two or more shareholders holding in aggregate 10% or more of the
shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting sought to be held
shall sign a written requisition in one or more counterparts in the
same form and contents, requiring the board of Directors to
convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting
thereof and stating the matters to be considered at the meeting.
The board of Directors shall, as soon as possible after receipt of the
requisition, convene an extraordinary general meeting or a class
meeting thereof. The aforementioned number of shares held by the
shareholders shall be calculated based on the date of submission
of the written requisition.

(i) If the board of Directors fails to issue a notice to convene such
meeting within 30 days from the date of receipt of the requisition,
the requisitioning shareholders may themselves convene such
meeting within 4 months of the receipt of the requisition by the
board of Directors. In so convening a meeting, the requisitioning
shareholders shall adopt a procedure as similar possible as that of
general meetings convened by the board of Directors.

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitioning shareholders as a
result of the failure of the board of Directors to convene a meeting and so
convening such meeting themselves as mentioned above shall be borne
by the Company and deducted from any sums due to such defaulting
Directors by the Company.
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RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 54 of the Articles of Association, the Board of
Directors, the Board of Supervisors and shareholders severally or jointly
holding 3% or above shares of the Company shall be entitled to submit
proposals to the Company at the general meeting.

Shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 5% or above of shares of the
Company shall have the right to submit a temporary proposal to the
convener in writing 10 days prior to the holding of the general meeting;
the convener shall, within 2 days after its receipt of such a proposal,
issue an supplementary notice of the general meeting, and announce the
contents of the temporary proposal. If the listing rules of the place where
the Company’s shares are listed provide otherwise, such rules shall also
be complied with.

RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post to registered office of the Company in
PRC: Factory No. 3 Laiyan Road West, Economic Development Zone
(South Side), Yuyao, Zhejiang, China for the attention of Ms. Zou Jing,
the Joint Company Secretary.

48 ANNUAL REPORT 2022
R FFR

RBRRAELRERRZEF

REBEARERFESLG  EFE  EFEREFNL
AU EARRB%HIALBRMHRR - BER
RERAE AR BIRERE -

BENAMHFEARDT %A FRMEIRER -
BRERRASEMI1I0AAIRLERREETE®
ERAKA  ARAREERIAREIERER2H
NELEBRRREHABA  REHEFRENHNA
B o AR ER EHHE ERRAISERE
FERE R EIRE

MESESFEHERZER

BREENEZSELEN - IESHABENRE
HEEH  BEEARABEAEMMNER it
B RBNTE RGO EREE (R ) RIER
PATASRmRES © Wit AmEst R A RMERF L -



Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B EE

KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

MEGMEBAEBRL G

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY
COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhejiang
RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 56 to 147, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB4,632,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that
date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
RMB48,834,000 and capital deficiency of approximately
RMB48,633,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth
in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters

MRERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EANERNAEERRELER

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECL”)
of trade receivables
EWESEFAHREEER(RHACESR BE
Refer to Note 17 and 33(b) to the consolidated
financial statements

ZRREMBIRRMEE 17 R 33(b)

ECL for trade receivables are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime ECL to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into account the credit loss
experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of
management judgment.

EWE GEFANBHEEEENRBREEBYBESL
R GTRBEEERNMGT  MzEANEREES
BER - SHEKEZERNER  EPHNERLE
WA K8 Al R FEBI ) B RS S BBV AT - PRB iE
ERRIZE L1975 R ETRE R H B -

We have identified ECL assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter because the assessing ECL of
trade receivables is a subjective area as it requires the
management’s judgment and uses of estimates.

B EKE ZEFO AR EEB RN EHER R
REFE AANEEWEZERINEHREEEBE
HEEEEEHETHE SERMET - PIUAZE I8
#HS

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY CO

Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL assessment
on trade receivables included:

BMEEEREHEKE FERNFEREEHENENETE
&

o reviewing and assessing the application of the Group’s
policy for calculating the ECL;
o  EBWINME EXEEHEEEEAEBENERBER

° evaluating the techniques and methodology in the ECL
model against the requirements of HKFRS 9;

e  HREBUBMSLEREIORNELR - ERFAREEERE
R BRI K 07 0%

o assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information used by
management to form such judgements, including testing
the accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual losses
recorded during the current financial year and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias
when recognising loss allowances;

e HBABREEREREKZFZFHEMANEERTHEIRER
BHERBEGERTNSENL  BFEARAELZHBIEN
AW FEELBEREERREE BB AT
MERETEERAR RBFEAMBRFEHEBENE
BIEE  URTEERREERERESFEERER
EMTR
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Key audit matters

MRERER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EANERNAEERRELSER

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade e
receivables is approximately RMB2,922,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of approximately
RMB2,000).

RZB_ZF+-A=+—B ERESEFZEKE
BRHAR 2,922,000 7T (FKHIE AR 2,000 7TH)
REREME) -

Inquiring of management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at year end and
corroborating explanations from management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with the customers based on trade
records, checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;
and
mMEREEMARZFEFRAHNEERNEKE HERNMR
N WREBERERBERIFHUER  JINRERS
B THERPNFEEBHBE RERTFPNELK
BEHEERBERETFHEMBE R

Details of the trade receivables are set out in Note 17 to  ®
the consolidated financial statements.

FEWE 5 IR 2 B E N R B SR MIFE17 -

o checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of the
trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 to the
underlying financial records and post year-end settlement
to bank receipts.

s MWMEBEN_T__F+_A=+—BHEBMBIHER
BRI E 5RO RERIE R RIRITRIB N FREEEE

OTHER INFORMATION HER
ERAEFAUEAMEHEE - HWEKBEF
HRAFTERER - BT BRIEGRE VB ®E RFHAM

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual

report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B EE

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN 2B EE

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

KTC Partner CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

Chow Yin Kwan Yvonne
Practising Certificate Number PO7989
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

fre B N E A 2

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaF AR%T ARBTF T
Revenue gy 5 32,213 36,540
Cost of sales SHE PR (27,402) (34,205)
Gross profit EX 4,811 2,335
Other income HAnug A 7 23 3
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary —HME A RIS D 2 Was 31 - 1,509
Impairment losses under expected credit FBEE EEEERIEB T
loss model, net of reversal FEEE - HBREE = 3
Selling expenses HERX (369) (172)
Administrative expenses THER (2,523) (2,319)
Finance costs BhE RS 8 (6,451) (5,348)
Loss before taxation BB RIE B 9 (4,509) (3,989)
Income tax expense Frig®if = 10 (123) (45)
Loss and total comprehensive loss A B#EHE AW
for the year attributable to FRAFBEREZEERAE
owners of the Company (4,632) (4,034)
Loss per share BREE
(RMB’ cents) (AR%%) 14
Basic HAK (0.93) (0.81)
Diluted e N/A FER N/A 7~ A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

“re MR

At 31 Deoember 2022
RZZEZ=—F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

et AR®T R ARBTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Plant and equipment W= KR 15 201 258
201 258
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 16 9 148
Trade and bill receivables FEWE 5 Bk R B R 1 17 2,922 7,487
Prepayments, deposits and AR ~ ek
other receivables H fth pE U AR X 36 -
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRS 18 14,661 10,703
17,628 18,338
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade payables FEE S BRI 19 8,341 7,585
Other payables and accruals E@JE HERR N BT B 20 639 955
Contract liabilities aEdaE 21 1,511 -
Amount due to a shareholder of f NEREZER AT —RRE
ultimate holding company IE 22 7,740 12,315
Amount due to a major shareholder BN — R FERERIE 23 6,000 6,000
Loan from a major shareholder RE—RETERRHER 24 37,720 -
Dividends payables FERT AR B 25 4,440 4,440
Tax payable FERIFRIR 71 33
(66,462) 31,328
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REREFE (48,834) (12,990)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Loan from a major shareholder KE—ZITERFEHNER 24 - 31,269
NET LIABILITIES BafE (48,633) (44,001)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRR#EE
Share capital A% A 26 50,000 50,000
Reserves ] (98,633) (94,001)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY =N (48,633) (44,001)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=AN NN
A BB SR
At 31 December 2022
WZE-—F+-A=+—H
The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 147 were approved  $£56 BE % 147 BREAMEBRER IKEESN
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2023 and —Z-=F=A -+ B# &L FETE - L H

are signed on its behalf by: THEERERESE
He Keng Wu Shanhong
{88 R AT
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREE AEL
Statutory
Share Capital Other surplus Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EERS
N B Htfife Nk 2itER ECHY
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETE ARETT ARETT AR%TR
(Note ) (Note ii) (Note il
GiE) (BisEi) (PsEii)
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—4%—F—H 50,000 40,449 291,319 25,040 (446,775) (39,967)
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBIER 2 EERBEE
loss for the year - - - - (4,034) (4,034)
Appropriation to statutory AR ETREGRE
surplus reserve - - - 137 (137) -
At31December2021and ~ RZTZ—4+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2022 —T--%—Hf—H 50,000 40,449 291,319 25177 (450,946) (44,001)
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBIER 2 EEELE
loss for the year - - - - (4,632) (4,632)
Appropriation to statutory AT ETRERE
surplus reserve - - - 288 (288) -
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_Z#+-A=1+—H 50,000 40,449 291,319 25,465 (455,866) (48,633)
Notes: B &E -
i) CAPITAL RESERVE 0} BEXRfHE
Capital reserve includes the share premium arising from the issuance of H shares after BAREREARRFEITHREENDRM EE (E0K
deduction of the respective share issuance costs of the Company. AR BATRLAS) ©
(i) OTHER RESERVE (i) EHitfFE
Other reserve represents the waiver of the amounts due to a former major shareholder HEEERUAEEEARRREZESHERRCRN 2
upon change in shareholding in the Company in previous year, the difference between AMEBREFIE  RE—LEZRFERZAFEER
the fair value of the loan from a major shareholder and the amount received in May 2 t+FRAKBRMREZENERE RZT_FF
2017, gain on extinguishment of the loan from a major shareholder in May 2020 as FRBENRE —REERE 2B W (024
described in Note 24, and waiver of amount due to a major shareholder. i) RER RN — R EBRERIE -
(i) STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE (i) EEBHLES

The Articles of Association of the Company and its subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) require the appropriation of 10% of their profit
after income tax determined under the PRC accounting standards each year to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered share capital.
According to the provision of the Company’s Articles of Association, under normal
circumstances, the statutory surplus reserve shall only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into share capital and expansion of the Company’s production and
operation. For the capitalisation of statutory surplus reserve into share capital, the
remaining amount of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the registered share
capital.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\\/T\ Eﬁi/)lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE_Z-__F+_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss before taxation bR A& 1B (4,509) (3,989)
Adjustments for: ERTYIEERE
Depreciation of plant and equipment B MBI E 57 52
Finance costs BB KA 6,451 5,348
Impairment losses under expected credit TEREEBEERTE TRERIE -
loss model, net of reversal IR = )
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary —MEM B AR e E R 2 WS - (1,509
Operating cash flows before movements ZEELEBHAIMNEERESRE
in working capital 1,999 (101)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories S (g ) 139 (148)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and EWE%% X% E SRR
bills receivables (3G An) 4,565 (2,167)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERRIE - 2 REMBUERRK
deposits and other receivables ($80),/ B (36) 8
Increase in trade payables FEE ) BRFIE N 756 931
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and HiEMERREAER
accruals CRA),/ & m (316) 324
Increase in contract liabilities B R AS SRIE R 1,511 -
Cash generated from/(used in) operations iﬁ‘é“%i%ﬁfr 5/ (FiA)HRE 8,618 (1,153)
Income tax paid ETFTSEL (85) (24)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) &R&XE (FrB)BHETE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8,533 (1,177)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
,\\/T\ Eﬁi/)lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETH
Purchase of plant and equipment HEME &R = (179)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES % & ;558 ff AR € 558 - (179
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Repayments to a director M—BEFER = (11,895)
(Repayment)/advance from a shareholder of RE LR AR —RBE
ultimate holding company (B, 85 (4,575) 13,807
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM ®i&SEE (FiA), FiBHR4E T8
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4,575) 1,912
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND REeRBESESEBEREM
CASH EQUIVALENTS B 3,958 556
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REMNBESRESLEEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,703 10,147
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERNESRRESESEER
THE END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash EMRITAE R R IR ® 14,661 10,703

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED 61
AT 2 SR R D BR AR



Notes to the Con\solidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

1.

62

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Control Technology Company Limited
(the “Company”) is a joint stock limited liability company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and its
shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding company is
Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd, a company
incorporated in the PRC. Its ultimate holding company is Hangzhou
Qindie Electronic Equipment Company Limited, a company
incorporated in the PRC. Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. He
Keng, who is also the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Company.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the Annual Report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“BMB”). The functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is RMB.

The principal activities of the Group are sales of controller systems
for electronic equipment and electronic component and
subassembly for electronic appliances and manufacturing and sales
of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products in the PRC.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
R FFR

—REHR

WL E BB AR AR ([ARAE )
AR EARLME () ML
B BRAR - ERDEETEHAZHM
BIRAF ([P )GEM £ - HE T
BRAB AT IR B AN ARA
A(—ERRBEMKZOAR) o K&
ZRABAMMCERERBER A (—
BN BEFEMAIE AR o ERAZERA
TREELLE  BRIT/RNAREFRAT
BEx-

ARRABZ MM EEBU R EEEEWE
BERFHRTPZ [ARIER] —Fi -

FEVBBERUARE(TARKE] 27 -
ARRREMBLR (SRR [AEE]) K
DEEBER/RARE -

AEEETRETENFHETANETH
mEETFREREFTHREFIMRE
23 R AT A R BLE I BH E BUE R S E
LE S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

S
1.

B E+-A=t+—HIEE
GENERAL INFORMATION — Continued

Going concern

During the year, the Group incurred a net loss for the year of
approximately RMB4,632,000. At 31 December 2022, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately RMB48,834,000 and
capital deficiency of approximately RMB48,633,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liability in the normal course of business.
Nevertheless, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have
performed an assessment of the Group’s future liquidity and cash
flows, taking into account the following relevant matters:

(i) The Directors will strengthen to implement measures aiming
of improving the working capital and cash flows of the Group
including closely monitoring the general administrative
expenses and operating costs.

(i) A major shareholder and a director of the Company confirm
to provide adequate financial support to the Group as is
necessary to ensure its continuing operation for a period at
least twelve months from the date of this report.

(i) Amount due to a shareholder of ultimate holding company of
approximately RMB7,740,000 as at 31 December 2022 is
repayable on demand. The shareholder of ultimate holding
company confirm that he will not demand for repayment until
the Group has improved its liquidity position.

(iv)  Loan from a major shareholder of the Company approximately
RMB37,720,000 as at 31 December 2022 will be repayable
on 30 April 2023. The major shareholder of the Company
confirms that he will not demand for repayment until the
Group has improved its liquidity position.

The Directors consider that after taking into account the
abovementioned financing plans and financial support of the major
shareholder, the Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy
its present requirements for at least the next twelve months from
the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to the consolidated financial statements to write down
the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effect of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Con\solidated Financial Statements
rrE BT IERR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

2.

64

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Con\solidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
—E-F+ A=+ HBILFE
APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

S
2.

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year — Continued

2.1

22

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or after 1
January 2022. The amendments update a reference in
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued
in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add a
requirement that, for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination and add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments specify that the costs of
any item that were produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when
testing whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is
functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such
items should be recognised and measured in the profit or
loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the
items are measured in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.
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Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year —

22

2.3

Continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use — Continued

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy retrospectively to property,
plant and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of 1 January 2021.

The application of the amendments in the current year has
had no impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 37
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments specify that, when an
entity assesses whether a contract is onerous in accordance
with HKAS 37, the unavoidable costs under a contract should
reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is
the lower of the cost of fulfiling it and any compensation or
penalties arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the
contract include incremental costs and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g. an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the
amendments are applicable to contracts for which the Group
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations as at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2022.

The application of the amendments in the current year has
had no impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year — Continued

24 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The annual improvements make
amendments to the following standards:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified
or exchanged as at the date of initial application, 1 January
2022.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement by removing the
requirement in paragraph 22 of HKAS 41 to exclude taxation
cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset
using a present value technique.

The application of the amendments in the current year has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts'’

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)"

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates!

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

Amendments to HKAS 12

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically,
the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from
the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the
former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non- current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2022, and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the
agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2022.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — Continued

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable individual HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations issued
by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO”). These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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B E+-A=+—HIEE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated impairment
loss, if any.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Revenue from contracts with customers — Continued

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For a sale of products with a right of return/exchange for dissimilar
products, the Group recognises all of the following:

(@) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the products
expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b) arefund liability/contract liability; and

(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for
its right to recover products from customers.
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B E+-A=+—HIEE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Revenue from contracts with customers — Continued

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to
by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest
expenses during the period between the advance payments were
received and the transfer of the associated goods and services are
accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Revenue from contracts with customers — Continued
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those
goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purpose. Plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued
Plant and equipment — Continued
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). The recoverable amount of plant and equipment are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued
Impairment on plant and equipment — Continued
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable

amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

3.

RAUGEUBBRRNEERERS
TR — &

BERRERE — &

fifh st BE (KRS EEEMN) WA U E 2
BREENEKEE  WZEEFHRDE
B B IREME R R = E AT B 2R
K RERBIEG AR B EER

R EBEELRER - AIEMEE(LRE
EAEMN) MREES AT EELETHM
E+TH£Z@§5(§E TR REETSE
BRRZEE(RRTELEM) RNBEF
B mER B EEBRMEENREE R
ERER @ BN PME R FER -

HE

HENES

W& HRBBAEMLS TE - BRERNE
BRI A EEEANEN - AIZA0ER

HBEMEE -

MR ERER BB 2RI HE A RE
EREBAHNANME  AEERESR
B BHEERNE16RNERRFLE - £
FTEHKERR(RAESEME) FHE
ZANEETBRNABEEME - FRIFAON
R MR ERBREE  TRIBABEH
AT EHTE

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED 81

/}ﬁ/liﬁL F%ﬁiﬁx1 ﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬁ

,—/’
N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

= BB ERR Mt

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Bz
3.

82

B E+-A=+—HIEE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Leases — Continued
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of buildings that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Taxation — Continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. All regular way purchase or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets at amortised cost which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balance or collectively with similar credit risk
characteristics based primarily on the debtors’ aging profiles.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

()

Significant increase in credit risk — Continued

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that result in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued
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EHMEERE — &

(i) Definition of default (i) EAIRT

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an HAFEERBRERME - AKER

event of default occurs when information developed internally 7 EAIHREMER SN AOR

or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is EESHENKRPEBS AT EREE

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full EABREAER) BEER(TFT R

(without taking into account any collaterals held by the RNEBE AR EMERR) & 8l

Group). THEENEN -

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default MEHEAHE FER ALEER

has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days & MesEESHEMA0X 8l

past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable BERHEHEEE  EWASEHRES

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default B ARRSFHNERTAEERLN
criterion is more appropriate. BHRERE REE  BISIERWR -
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) FEMEDHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events WEEHEREENMBFTARRRER

of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated ST EN—BRZIESEM - A

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. ZeMEELREERE 2REE

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes HIREERENZEEREEB S

observable data about the following events: GROEIRE=S ¢

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the . BIT ARERA LR ERI
borrower; R

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due . ERAH WEHNEBHSE
event; "

e  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or . ERABMERARBRBERA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial TSR B KA B 3 A B R E W)
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a BRARLERATESEE
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise ERYERRE
consider;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets — Continued

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Impairment of financial assets — Continued

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL — Continued
For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:
° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities, including trade and other payables,
amount due to a director, amount due to a shareholder of ultimate
holding company, amount due to a major shareholder, dividends
payables and loan from a major shareholder, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued
Financial liabilities and equity — Continued
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform in which
the Group applies the practical expedient, when the contractual
terms of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether
the revised terms result in a substantial modification from original
terms taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered
as non-substantial modification when such difference is less than
10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss
at the date of modification.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Financial instruments — Continued

Financial liabilities and equity — Continued

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows as
a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows
of a financial asset or financial liability to which the amortised cost
measurement applies as a result of interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the practical expedient to account for these
changes by updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant effect on the
carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these
conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the change).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to a the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

@iy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the reporting entity. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — Continued

Related parties — Continued

(v The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— Continued

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimation (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessments of the going concern assumptions involve making
judgement by the Directors, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The Directors consider that the Group has the ability to
continue as a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively
may cast significant doubt about the going concern assumptions
are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in (1) sales of controller systems for electronic
equipment and electronic component and subassembly for
electronic appliances and (2) sales of CNC machine tools optical
and mechanical products. The Group concluded that the Group
acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the
specified good before it is transferred to the customer after taking
into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified goods,
and has discretion in establishing the price for the specified goods.
The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue in
the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled as specified in the contracts. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group recognised revenue relating to sales of
controller systems for electronic equipment and electronic
component and subassembly for electronic appliances and sales of
CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products amounted to
approximately RMB32,213,000 (2021: RMB36,540,000).
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B E+-A=+—HIEE
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
— Continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainly at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses provision
matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables which are
individually insignificant. The provision rates are primarily on the
debtors’ aging profiles as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Notes 17 and 33(b). The carrying amount of the
Group’s trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB2,922,000 (2021: RMB7,457,000).

Provision for claim

During the current and prior years, the Group had been involved in
a dispute (Note 28). The Directors determine the provision for claim
based on their best estimates according to their understanding of
legal advice. Where the final outcome of the claim and negotiation
with the respective party is different from the estimation made by
the directors, such difference will impact the provision for claims in
the year in which such determination is finalised. As at 31
December 2022, the provision for claim was approximately
RMB86,000 (2021: RMB86,000).
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fra IR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE 5. W=
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () HEEFPENMNWED MR
customers
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT
Type of goods ERER
Sales of controller systems for electronic ~ $4& & F 5% f% NEFITHR
equipment and electronic component THIEE R FENET
and subassembily for electronic A& DB1¢
appliances 21,542 36,166
Sales of CNC machine tools optical & BUE MR JHE E
and mechanical products 10,671 374
Timing of revenue recognition Ui 2 R0 B B
At point in time HRFE 2 32,213 36,540
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REVENUE — Continued

Bz
5.

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of controller systems for electronic equipment
and electronic component and subassembly for
electronic appliances (“electronic products”) and sales
of CNC machine tools optical and mechanical products
(“mechanical products”)

The Group sells electronic products and mechanical products
to the wholesale market. Revenue is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been delivered to the wholesaler’s specific location
(“delivery”). Following the delivery, the wholesaler has full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the
goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in
relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 90 days upon
delivery.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for electronic
products and mechanical products such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for sales of
electronic products and mechanical products that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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B E+-A=t+—HIEE
SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), being the executive
directors of the Company, in order to allocate resources to
segments and to assess their performance. No operating segments
identified by the chief operating decision maker have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are: (i) Sales of
controller systems for electronic products; and (ii) Sales of
mechanical products. The CODM considers the Group has two
operating and reportable segments which are based on the internal
organisation and reporting structure. This is the basis upon which
the Group is organised.
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BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued 6. PDEER-—&
Segment revenues and results DEBU R R EE

MEW

REBEIRA 2| AL LD
EEOMWT

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable and operating segment:

|73 2 Wz e

For the year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=+—HIEE

Sales of controller systems Sales of
for electronic products mechanical products Consolidated
HEETERNEHNEZS HEXBER Re
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-__f -—"T-— CZE-_-®& ~"T--F ZBEZf -"T-—%
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARBTT ARETRE ARETT ARETR ARET:
Revenue Wi
— External sales — HoMEE 21,542 36,166 10,671 374 32,213 36,540
Segment results DEELE 830 1,421 2,158 ®) 2,988 1,413
Unallocated income KA EUA
Gain on deregistration  — &M B A T
of a subsidiary HEHE T AW - 1,509
Other income B A 23 3
Unallocated expenses A FLF
Depreciation of plant ~ ERRENE
and equipment (21) 1)
Finance costs AR (6,451) (5,348)
Other expenses EpY (1,048) (1,545)
Loss before taxation B FiATEE (4,509) (3,989)
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B E+-A=t+—HIEE
SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued

Segment revenues and results — Continued

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment
results represent (loss)/profit incurred by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, bank interest income,
depreciation of plant and equipment and gain on deregistration of a
subsidiary. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

DEER — &
DR E R FE — &

i“%’n\ﬁliﬁ’] ETHUCR BN FE S PTIl 2 AR &
SRTEERAR - D EMEEREEOBEL
2 (B18),a8 M - YR RA RS RITH
PRA - SRITH B HA - BRE R R ITE A
K — I B AR E R AU ER » th T 5E
BRABEMRBAFEMAEIELERESE
EITE2WMHTTE -

Segment assets and liabilities PEEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by UTNEEAZ2FRDMBEINNAEEEE K
reportable segment: BEMDIT
At 31 December R+=FA=+-—H
Sales of controller systems Sales of
for electronic products mechanical products Consolidated
HEETERNEHEZRS HEXBER =E
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-__F -—"E--—5 "B "Z--§ ZBEZf -T-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%ETT AR¥TR AR%®Tr ARETR ARET:H
Segment assets NHEE 948 7,678 2,156 166 3,104 7,844
Unallocated corporate KA B EEE
assets 14,725 10,752
Total assets mEE 17,829 18,596
Segment liabilities NHBE 4,961 7,699 4,948 282 9,909 7,981
Unallocated corporate RABEAE
liabilities 56,553 54,616
Total liabilities eaE 66,462 62,597
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued
Segment assets and liabilities — Continued

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
bank balances and cash. Assets used jointly by reportable
segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned
by individual reportable segments; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
loan from a major shareholder, dividends payables and
amount due to a major shareholder/a shareholder of ultimate
holding company. Liabilities for which reportable segments
are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.
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HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued 6. PDEER-—&
Other segment information Hitn o EpE R
For the year ended 31 December BE+-—A=+—HIFE
Sales of controller systems for Sales of
electronic products mechanical products Unallocated Consolidated
HEETERNENRAA HEXRER AR &&
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—2-C - ZB-f -5--% B C-E--F  ZBZC “EC-F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTRE  ARETT  ARMTR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Amounts included in the 5+ EA BB
meastre of segment  HYEE Tﬁﬁ
proft orloss or R
segment assets:
Capital expenditure (Note) ERE X (i3 - - - (179 - - - (179)
Depreciation of plant and BiE ki E
equipment (12 (17) (24) (14) - - (36) (31)
Impaiment loss reversed EEIENE 58 40
on of rade receivables  HESE - 3 - - - - - 3
Amounts regularly THRUETIERE
provided to the chief AR AETE SR
operating decision HHERTENSE
maker but not included
in the measure of
segment profit or loss:
Bank interestincome ~ $R47RI2 A 1 - - - = - 1 -
Depreciationof plant % REENE
and equipment - - - - 1) 21) 21) (21)
Finance costs RERE - - - - (6,451) (5,348) (6,451) (5,348)
Gainon deregisiration  —FIMEBLFHERR
of asubsidiary lhen - - - - - 1509 - 1509

Note: Capital expenditure includes plant and equipment.

Mt : BEARXBERE k&

1
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SEGMENT INFORMATION — Continued
Geographical information

The Group’s business is primarily operated in the PRC. All of the
Group’s revenue is attributable to customers in the PRC.

An analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets by
geographical area in which the assets are located has not been
presented as they are all located in the PRC.

Major customers

Turnover from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total turnover of the Group are as follows:

DEBER — &
& B R

AEENEBIBREPELE -
W2 BOREHENEP °

rEEZ

MR EE S HBEEMC NP - St I i

BEMER 2 BRREERN DT

FERF

RIEREFE  REHASRERZXBER
HBE10% MEF Z A EBEINWT

2022 2021
—E-—F T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTFT
Customer A ZEA 15,154 17,804
Customer B’ ZFB! 10,908 -
Customer C?8 BFEC?8 N/A 9,953
Customer D? BFED? - 3,991
Notes: PH3E
1. Revenue from sales of controller systems for electronic products and sales of 1. HEBE FEMMEHIRRTREEAEERDHK
mechanical products. &

2. Revenue from sales of controller systems for electronic products. 2. HEETERMEHIERGH K

3. The revenue did not contribute over the total turnover of the Group for the year 3. Wl B A EEEE S —F+_A=+—

ended 31 December 2022.
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7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hfblg A
2022 2021
—=E_— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Sundry income FETE A 23 3
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RMEMF
2022 2021
—ET - —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Imputed interest expense on loan from KE—BEFERRERZ
a major shareholder hETFEMX 6,451 5,348
9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. KRBIAIER
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBF T
Loss before taxation has been arrived BrERRTESHE E Nk
at after charging: LARIEE -
Staff costs, excluding chairman, directors’ SEIRKN(TBEER -
and supervisors’ emoluments EERESEE)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind — # & « TE R EMEYEF 369 297
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions ~ — iR /Ri@FIET &It 2% 30 7
Total staff costs 8 TR 399 304
Depreciation of plant and equipment s K T E 57 52
Auditor’s remuneration ZEA S 581 506
Cost of inventories recognised BRI MFEKRAR
as an expense 27,359 34,134
Net foreign exchange losses HNE B5 18 F R = 18
Expense relating to short-term lease Eafg AT E MR X - 27
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BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTEHMAX
2022 2021
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T

PRC enterprise income tax Bl TS HL

— Current year —RKFEE 156 57
— Overprovision in prior year — BEFEHBEERE (33) (12)
Income tax expense FIS Bl 123 45

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the Company and the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January
2008 onwards.

According to the normal statutory PRC EIT law and relevant rules,
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022, qualified small and
thin-profit enterprises with an annual taxable income of RMBH1
million or less is applicable to the effective EIT rate of 5%. Where its
annual taxable income exceeds RMB1 million but does not exceed
RMBS3 million (inclusive), the RMB1 million portion will be subject to
an effective EIT rate of 5%, whereas the excess portion will be
subject to the effective EIT rate of 10%.

From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022, the portion of annual
taxable income that does not exceeds RMB1 million of a small and
thin-profit enterprise will be subject to an effective EIT rate of 2.5%.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, certain
subsidiaries of the Company have been qualified as small and thin-
profit enterprises which can enjoy preferential tax rate in the related
period.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for that years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fra IR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE — Continued 10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

Fr&%imMA< — &

FARSRAXATEGEEE R EMEE
Wan R PrPIBR B AT B IR SRR T

2022 2021
—EgE=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T AREEF T
Loss before taxation MRB AT EE (4,509) (3,989)
Tax at the statutory applicable tax rate of 25% &% & i 3 i % 25%
(2021: 25%) —E—F 1 25%)E
TR IR (1,127) (998)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible MBS E N AR A
for tax purposes M E 1,633 1,352
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERARBAIRIEE IR
recognised ﬁ)fﬁ“@’g & 266 386
Tax effect of non-taxable income AR AR TS 2 = (378)
Statutory tax concession EERUER (616) @73)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not T BT KRR B EE
recognised = (32)
Over provision in previous year BEFEHERE (33) (12)
Income tax expense for the year FRABHAX 123 45
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil), nor has any dividend been proposed since the

end of the reporting period.

tTEREE T -_—F+-_A=+—Hit
FEINHBERRNEAKRE(ZE=—
FoE) BREHRAR  FEERIRN
FRARE ©
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N R el

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

12. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN,
DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
EMOLUMENTS)

12.

EIRK(BEXE EERES
<)

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTT

Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind e LEREMEDER

Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRBFETEI R

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Company
and those subsidiaries, which operated in the PRC, are required to
contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all its
employees. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees.
Under the state-sponsored retirement plan, the Group has no
further obligations for the actual pension payments or post-
retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions, a total
contribution of approximately RMB42,000 (2021: RMB21,000) was
made by the Group in respect of this scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

13. CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 13. X EBRESEME
EMOLUMENTS

Chairman, directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments TE - EBKESHWE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2021: BN ENER(ZE—F  £R)EF
seven) chairman, directors and three (2021: three) supervisors were EFER=FR(ZEZ—F: =R)EE0H
as follows: T
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E_—HF+-_HA=+—HIFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits scheme
Name Fees in kind contributions Total
i 30 BIRER
#e g RENERN e Eoh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. He Keng (Chairman) WELE(LE) - 76 5 81
Ms. Wu Shanhong WAL - 71 5 82
Mr. Chen Weigiang REREE - 68 - 68
Ms. Zou Jing Pt - 81 5 86
Independent non-executive directors BUEHTES

Mr. Zhou Weibo RAEREE 36 - - 36
Ms. Sheng Ting BELT 36 - - 36
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung, Eddie SrlELE 43 - - 43
Supervisors Ex

Mr. Guo Fanggiang TrBLE - - - -
Mr. Zhang Shenggen REBLE - - - -
Mr. Chen Yuankang BEE = = = -
Total @t 115 302 15 432
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

13. CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 13. & - EEREEME — &
EMOLUMENTS — Continued

Chairman, directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments I EEREEMWE — &
— Continued
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE_E-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and bengfits scheme
Name Fees in kind contributions Total
e 2 RANER
#e e RENEHN SRl @
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTL

Executive directors BiTES
Mr. He Keng (Chairman) gEE (1E) - 67 6 73
Ms. Wu Shanhong S RT - 22 2 24
Mr. Chen Weigiang RERLE - 65 - 65
Ms. Zou Jing (@ppointed on 25 March 2021)  F& L (N-E=—%

ZRAZTRARZM) - 74 6 80

Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES

Mr. Zhou Weibo RS 3 - - 36
Ms. Sheng Ting BEuT 36 - - 36
Mr. Kwok Kim Hung, Eddie PREEAE 41 - - 41
Supervisors Ex

Mr. Guo Fanggiang IRBAE - - - -
Mr. Zhang Shenggen REREE - - - -
Mr. Chen Yuankang BrELE - - - -
Total @ 113 228 14 355
Note: MisE -

No directors and supervisors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the two BE_Z_—_FR-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HIM
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. EFEETEESRESHEXRBRETAMS -
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fra IR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

13. CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 13. & - EEREEME — &
EMOLUMENTS — Continued

Senior management’s emoluments SREEEMS
Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the Group, two ANEFREZSHFMALT WE(ZF
(2021: two) was a director of the Company whose emolument are Z—F D)BARFRES EMEHEHIIRN
included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the EXHBRBERP HBp=R(ZFT=—
remaining three (2021: three) highest paid individuals were as F:=F)mRarMATHMS0T
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Salaries and other benefits in kind He hEMEYET 226 205
Retirement benefits scheme contributions IRREFIFTEI AR 15 18
241 223
Their emoluments were within the following band: BEZMEANTFUATHER :
Number of employees
EEA"
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T
(equivalent to approximately RMB859,000 (*H (=P ’J AR ¥ 859,0007T
(2021: RMB830,000)) —E—
AR 830,0007T)) 3 3
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Bz
13.

14.

118

B E+-A=+—HIEE

CHAIRMAN, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
EMOLUMENTS — Continued

Senior management’s emoluments — Continued

No emolument have been paid by the Group to the directors and
supervisors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the two years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

No bonuses paid or receivable which are discretionary or based on
the Company’s, the Group’s or any member of the Group’s
performance for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB4,632,000 (2021: RMB4,034,000) divided by the weighted
average number of 500,000,000 shares (2021: 500,000,000
shares) in issue during the year.

No diluted loss per share have been presented for the two years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as there was no diluted
potential ordinary share in issue for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
TR F+ZA=+—HILFE

15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. BMERRE
Plant and Motor
equipment vehicles Total
BERERE RE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARETFT AREEF T
COST A
At 1 January 2021 RZE_FTF—H—H - 205 205
Additions B 179 - 179
At 31 December 2021, N-EB-—&F
1 January 2022 and +=A=+—8"-
31 December 2022 —E--f—F—HK
—E_-C
+=—HA=+-—H 179 205 384
ACCUMULATED Ritine
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2021 RZE=-_—F—H—H - 74 74
Provided for the year FREE 13 39 52
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZE-—%+=A
1 January 2022 =+—HE
—E-—%—H—H 13 113 126
Provided for the year FARE 18 39 57
At 31 December 2022 N-EE=-—
+=HA=+—H 31 152 183
CARRYING VALUES RREE
At 31 December 2022 N-EE—-—
+=—H=+—H 148 53 201
At 31 December 2021 i
+=-—A=+—~H 166 92 258
Note: MsE -
The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over R R RAER DR G A ERE R ER
the estimated useful lives less their residual values at the following rates per annum: ﬁéﬁﬂ‘ﬁuﬁﬁiﬂﬁ\?ﬂ i%;?% . : -
Plant and equipment 10% R R 2R i 10%
Motor vehicles 20% = 20%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE_Z-__F+_A=+—HILFE

16. INVENTORIES 16. B&

2022 2021
—ZT - —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTF T
Finished goods RIEK SR 9 148

17. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 17. EWEZRAREWERE
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables — contracts with customers JEWNE ZFEER — B &4

Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEERE
Trade receivables, net of impairment FEWE ZRE - B RE
Bill receivables eI =&

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days to its trade
customers.

At 31 December 2022, the trade receivables included the trade
receivable from a related company of approximately RMB Nil (2021:
RMB3,632,000), which is unsecured, interest-free and bears
normal commercial terms as other trade debtors. The related
company is an entity which is controlled by a director of the
immediate holding company (Note 30).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

S
17.

18.

B E+-A=t+—HIEE

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES — Continued 17. BEWESRRAREKWERE — &

The aged analysis of trade receivables presented based on the INTAREEHZIMERE F (B
invoice date, net of impairment losses recognised was as follows: B ERERAREEIE) FEREKR D Tﬁ

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTFT
0-90 days 0£Z90H 2,774 5,356
91-180 days 91 £180H - 1,395
181-365 days 1812365 H 148 706
Over 365 days 365 B = -
2,922 7,457

The aging analysis of trade receivables which were past due but
not impaired are as follows:

EEEBERRENERE ZERNERRD
M

2022 2021

—=—= —EC-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ TR ARBTT

Within 90 days past due BHAOARNRA - 1,395
91 to 180 days past due #H91 =180 H 148 706
148 2,101

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in
Note 33(b).

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rates.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group performed impairment
assessment on bank balances and concluded that the probability
of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and
accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

At 31 December 2022, the bank balance and cash equivalents of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB14,661,000 (2021: RMB10,703,000). RMB is in not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through authorised banks to conduct foreign exchange business.

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fr e B RSRR B oE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

19. TRADE PAYABLES 19. BNESERER

BERRNTHEEHNAOAR -

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.

RREHRIZERAZFINENE FER
HERER DT IIRAN T

The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

2022 2021
—E__—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
0-90 days 0Z90H 8,341 7,585
91-180 days 912180 H = -
181-365 days 181 %365 H = -
Over 365 days i@ 365 H - -
8,341 7,585

20. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. HiENBRRRESTE R
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Other payables HAth FEATBR X 47 197
Other taxes payables Hab A fRIE = 17
Accruals EsrE A 506 655
Provision for claim (Note 28) RIEBME (HFE28) 86 86
639 955
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fra IR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

21. AWERE

2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Sales of controller systems for electronic HEETRENEHIERRR
products and sales of mechanical products T 86 S M
1,511 -
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration EHEBETZEHEESFREMNZEHRR
received from customers for sales of controller systems for FRHEAME DA RTP I AN RE
electronic products and sales of mechanical products, for which R AREDEEESER - WEER
revenue is recognised at point in time. This will be recognised as EoriEtlaEg (ERE T EES
revenue when control of the goods has transferred, being when the BV TE M BE A ) B TR o
goods have been delivered to the wholesaler’s specific location.
Movements in contract liabilities BHEERE
2022 2021
—E-_F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Balance at 1 January

Decrease upon deregistration of
a subsidiary

Increase due to cash received,
excluding amounts recognised
as revenue during the year

Balance at 31 December

W—F—Br#EeH - 153
— T8 2 R B AT R A
- (153)
AEHER Mg - T ERE
FRER DRSS
1,511 -

R+ A=+—HW%s 1,511 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—#+-_A=+—HILEE

22. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER OF

22 EN-—FREE BRKERIA-R

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY IR RKIE
2022 2021
—E-—F = —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARBFIT
Amount due to a shareholder of ultimate JERRAIERR A B — R IR
holding company
Mr. Tang Jingfeng FemE A 7,740 12,315

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed
term of repayment.

AR REER - B MEREEENRY

23. AMOUNT DUE TO A MAJOR SHAREHOLDER 23. Ef—REXERRNE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Due to a major shareholder TER —4 I%Hx%,ﬂ\
Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent AT IR R %%%A
Robot Co., Ltd. kﬁﬁ@ 6,000 6,000
The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed ZPIAREEM - 2R REE TR
term of repayment.
24. LOAN FROM A MAJOR SHAREHOLDER 24, RE—BFTERRZEN

As at 31 December 2019, the loan with principal amount of
RMB46,000,000 from Zhejiang RuiYuan Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd.
(the “Major Shareholder”) is unsecured, interest free and was
repayable on 30 April 2020 (the “Original Loan”).

On the date of grant, the Group credited an amount of
approximately RMB9,483,000 to other reserve which represented
the difference between the fair value of the loan from a major
shareholder and the amount received.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

S
24.

25.

26.

B E+-A=t+—HIEE

LOAN FROM A MAJOR SHAREHOLDER — 24, RE—BFTERRZER — &
Continued
On 1 May 2020, the Major Shareholder and the Company entered RZZEZTEFRA—AB FERFHEAR
into a supplemental loan agreement, pursuant to which the R VHAER M Bt REFA S
repayment date of the Original Loan principal amount of %A K ¥ 40,000,000 7T B9 3& X B AR & AT
RMB40,000,000 has been revised to 30 April 2023 (the “Revised E-T-_—FA=FTH(&BITER]) -
Loan”). The Revised Loan is unsecured and interest-free. The KIEFTERAEERLEE - RERAS
remaining balance of RMB6,000,000 of the Original Loan principal #4258 AR # 6,000,000 L A] EESK(EZE » I
is repayable on demand and recognized as amount due to a major REBEN—RBFERFEZE(M:E23)
shareholder (Note 23). As there were substantial modifications in AR REERNERETEANEL] WX
the terms of the Original Loan, these have been accounted for as ZEHRARINABBERER - HE-T =
extinguishment of the Original Loan. On the date of the loan ZE+TZA=1T—HIEFE RERKE:T
modifications, the Group credited an amount of approximately A AEBEBLH AR 17,213,000 7T
RMB17,213,000 to other reserve which represented the difference AT HMEEE  RETEZTHAF
between the fair value of the Revised Loan and amount due to a BEREERNEN—BEZREFHRIEER
major shareholder recognized, and extinguishment of the Original HRERZHRERE -
Loan for the year ended 31 December 2020.
DIVIDENDS PAYABLES 25. ERRE
The dividends payables represent the final dividend declared for ERREENRZEENFRERNERTIRE
Domestic Shares in 2004 which amounting RMB4,440,000. REARR B A AR 4,440,000 7T ©
SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number of
shares Amount
RGO EE Kok
000 RMB’000
TFix ARBTFT
Authorised, issued and fully paid: VAT BETRAR ¢
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 R-—ZE-_—%—HF—8"
and 31 December 2022 —E-—-H+=-A=+—-88K
—E-—F+=ZH=+—H 500,000 50,000
Domestic shares (Note a) NER (HiEta) 370,000 37,000
H shares (Note b) H % (F13EDb) 130,000 13,000
500,000 50,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—#+-_A=+—HILEE

26. SHARE CAPITAL — Continued

27.

Notes:

(@

Pursuant to an approval dated 4 June 2003 issued by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission, all the shares of the Company, which were issued and
fully paid, being 37,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of RMB1.00 each,
were sub-divided into 370,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
RMBO0.10 each.

On 14 November 20083, the Company commenced the trading of the newly
issued 130,000,000 H shares of RMB0.10 each on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, including 117,000,000 H shares to institutional investors by way of
placement and 13,000,000 H shares for subscription by members of the public
in Hong Kong under the Public Offer at the Offer Price of HKDO.50 (equivalent
to approximately RMB69,550,000). Following the issue, the share capital and
capital reserve of the Company increased by approximately HKD12,150,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB13,000,000) and HKD52,850,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB56,550,000) respectively.

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately RMB8,141,000 (2021: RMB12,280,000)
available to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
unused tax losses incurred by the Company and PRC subsidiaries
can be carried forward for a period of five years.
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28.

B E+-A=t+—HIEE
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

LBTC 3663/2016 (the “Labour Tribunal Proceedings”)

On or around 7 November 2016, a former employee (the “Former
Employee”) was terminated by the Company on or around 5
October 2016 (the “Termination Date”), commenced proceedings
in the Labour Tribunal against the Company and its former
subsidiary, Hong Kong Wan Li Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“HK Wan Li")
(together, the “Respondents”), claiming a total amount of
approximately of HK$2,600,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,340,000) on a number of grounds, including (i) dismissal by
reason of redundancy, (ii) failure to grant statutory holidays, (iii)
failure to grant annual leave, (iv) failure to pay long service payment,
(v) failure to make payment for overtime work, (vi) failure to pay end
of year payment, (vii) failure to pay bonus. Pursuant to the Order of
the Labour Tribunal dated 5 May 2017, the Labour Tribunal
Proceedings are presently stayed indefinitely with costs reserved.

As of the date hereof, the Company is not aware of any further
development to the Labour Tribunal Proceedings since 5 May
2017.

Taking into account the possible outcome and their obligations for
the above case, the Group has made a provision for claim of
approximately RMB86,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$96,000) for the year ended 31 December 2016 and no further
provision was made thereafter.

Since the above cases are still in progress, the Directors would
continue to exercise their due care in monitoring the progress of
the cases and would assess the adequacy of provision of claim and
the financial impact to the Group as and when appropriate. The
Directors believe that the amount of approximately RMB86,000 as
at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB86,000) represents the best
estimate of the Group’s liability having taken legal advice.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities at 31 December 2022.
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29. ZRERE&EREBRM T

CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities RMETBELENEBZEH

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising Tﬁ#ﬁﬁ ERFEAREEHEENAE

from financing activities during the year: o

Amount

duetoa Total
shareholder Amount liabilities
Amount of ultimate due to Loan from from
due to holding a major a major financing
a director company shareholder  shareholder activities

ER & Ef—% RE-%
Ef—% ZRAR TERR TERR MEED
EERE —ERERE HE ZER B4R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—45—-HA—H 10,403 - 6,000 25,921 42,324

Changes in cash flows Bengit (11,895) 13,807 - - 1,912

Non-cash changes FHEEE 1,492 (1,492) - 5,348 5,348

At 31 December 2021 and  RZZT-—F

1 January 2022 +ZRA=+—-Hk
—E--%—-B—H - 12,315 6,000 31,269 49,584

Changes in cash flows BeRgl - (4,575) - - (4,575)

Non-cash changes FHEE - - - 6,451 6,451

At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-F=+—H - 7,740 6,000 37,720 51,460

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BERXS

(@ The balances with related parties at the end of reporting (@  AREHARELEIEE A T AR ER
period are disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial FEMBHREROEMEOA o
statements.

(o)  The key management personnel of the Group comprises all b)) AEEFZEEAEBREMBESRK
Directors and Supervisors, details of their emoluments are BEE HMeFBERERMEEI8.
disclosed in Note 13. The remuneration of the Directors is EEFHHTHEESRBEARER
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to TSR TEEE

the performance of individuals and market.

() During the year ended 31 December 2022, sales in the © BEZZ-—_F+_A=+—HILF
aggregate of approximately RMB789,000 (2021: Jg AHHAREETS,000L (==
RMB3,992,000) were received or receivables from a TF: ARM3,9092,0007T) H $4
company controlled by a director of the immediate holding E%’ﬁ%?ﬂ”%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&%ﬂﬁ AT 4
company based on terms as agreed by the relevant party, as FHENGRE —REEERARE
set out in the sale agreements. The trade receivable at 31 %ﬁﬂ il 72 7 YT ER Bk FE U R A R e
December 2022 was Nil (2021: RMB3,632,000) (Note 17). RZEZ—F+_A=+—HHEK

f’i%,ﬁﬁ, HEBAREE( T - —F
AR #3,632,0007T) (FsE17) ©
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HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

31. DEREGISTRATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 31. —FEKNE A RBEER
During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Group REBEE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILHHK
deregistered Shenzhen WanHao, a wholly-owned subsidiary in the FE - Zli‘ﬁ l?ﬁﬁ(%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ—%ﬁﬁqﬂ HIIEE
PRC which was inactive since cessation of business in 2021. BEMBARFIIERZ - HRN T - —F K
t%%&lﬁ%%

RMB’000

AREEF T

Trade payables JEE 5 RIA 748
Other payables H b pE{50A 608
Contract liabilities aHEaE 153
Net liabilities of deregistered subsidiary BB B AR aE T 1,509
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary —HB A RBEE AR 1,509

The subsidiary deregistered during the year ended 31 December
2021 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of the

Group.
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32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the

return to shareholders through optimisation of the debt and equity
palance.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

32.

EXEBER

AEBEEEERT BERAEEETH
ERERALERY RBEBRE(LLER

K 2 M EIRE - BRREREK

Bl ¥R -

RBEHRNERBELRMT ¢

2022 2021
—E-—F -
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Debts (Note (i)) &% (BEE ()

Bank balances and cash WITHEB LIRS

Net debt FER

Capital deficiency (Note (ii)) & AR E A (B EE (i)

Net debt to equity ratio TFERE RS R

Notes:

(i) Debts comprise amount due to a shareholder of ultimate holding company/a

major shareholder, and loan from a major shareholder.

(ii) Capital deficiency includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of the
Company.
* As the Group had a net deficiency in capital at 31 December 2022 and 2021,

the Group’s gearing ratio as at that date were not applicable. The Directors
have given careful consideration on the measures currently undertaken in
respect of the Group’s liquidity position. The Directors believe that the Group
will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due based on the
Group’s working capital sufficiency plans.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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51,460 49,584
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(@)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS E@WmIT A
Categories of financial instruments (@ =mIEZEH
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEF T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost HE KRR S REE 17,583 18,190
Financial liabilities o =L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEEAATRE 2RV B (E 64,794 62,461
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (b) FHEMREENEERBER

(b)

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and bill
receivables, deposit and other receivables, bank balances
and cash, trade payables, other payables and accruals,
dividend payable, amount due to a shareholder of ultimate
holding company/a major shareholder and loan from a major
shareholder are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of the Group is RMB since
the Group operates in the PRC with all of the
transactions and financial assets at amortised cost are
denominated and settled in RMB. As a result, there is
no exposure to foreign currency risk.

AEBNFESHMTADERKE S
REWEERRR - e RHEMmERER
FoROTEBRERS BNESE
o HA RN R BRI - B
BB EBN—REE/ REKERAA
—BRE — B EBRREFIEA KR
B—E2EEZRXZERNFBERENE
MRS  AEZE eI AN

BIET SRR (B8R R & F &
Efg) - EERRE RREE S RE o
B RANERREZ SRR BRI R
TXY - EEESERWERZERR
A AR RSB B E EEE B
i

5 @ B
() E¥ER

RN ARER R BL 2%
AEENINGEEERARYE
B R 5 MBI ANGTEN
TREEINARBHERSE
{0 it - BERESHNER L o
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Market risk — Continued
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group do not expose any fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to its variable rate bank balances. The Group
considered that the effect of the cash flow interest rate
is minimal and no sensitivity analysis to interest rate risk
is presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, bank balances and
other receivables and deposits. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets.

(i) Trade receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 92%
(2021: 49%) and 100% (2021: 100%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group has concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as the entire balance of its trade
receivable as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were in
the PRC.
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Fr-A=1T—RIFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

(i)

(i)

(i)

()

Trade receivables — Continued

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually or based on provision matrix.
Except for items that are subject to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment
individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers and current past due exposure.
Net reversal of impairment loss of approximately
RMBNIl (2021: RMB3,000) are recognised during the
year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.

Bill receivables

The credit risk associated with bill receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when
the Group presents there bills on due dates.

Bank balances

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are
international banks and state-owned banks with good
reputation.

Other receivables and deposits

The credit risk on other receivables and deposits are
also limited because of the natures of these balances,
credit quality of the counterparties and the historical
settlement record.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

33. ¢RTH — &

(b) HMBEREENEZERBEE —

EEmEBRRBEF G — &

TR AEENEREEEERR
(REITRIMERBENM)

assessment:
Internal Gross
credit 12-month or carrying
2022 —EC-CF Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
12BAR& S
MieE RBEETR RHEEER IREA%E
RMB’000
ARETR
Financial assets at amortised costs 3% 85 B A< 51| BR #9
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE 18 N/A" 12-month ECL 14,661
~EA 12f8A
BHEEFE
Trade receivables FEWE FERD 17 (notei) Lifetime ECL 2,924
(=) _y
BAGEEE
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

33. ¢RTH — &

(b) HMBEREENEZERBEE —

&

EEmEBRRBEF G — &

Internal Gross

credit 12-month or carrying

2021 “E-—F Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
12ME A s

FiizE NI EETS EHEEHE REEE

RMB’000

ARETT

Financial assets at amortised costs 3 §5 B A< 51| BR A
CHEE

Bank balances and cash RITEBRRS 18 N/A  12-month ECL 10,703
TEA 12184
HEEEER

Trade receivables W E ZER 17 (note i) Lifetime ECL 7,646
(PB5ED) wy
BHEEESE

Bill receivables k=g 17 N/A 12-month ECL 30
TEA 1216 A
EBHEEEBR
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

Notes:

i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items
by past due status, historical loss rates and adjust for forward-looking
information.

(ii) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2022 and
2021, these balances are either not past due or doesn’t have fixed
repayment.

(iii) The Directors considers credit risks have increased significantly and
those past due more than 90 days are considered as credit-impaired.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers because these customers have common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired).
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

Analysis of trade receivable by categories based on method
of provision for credit loss allowance

33. ¢RTH — &

(b) BIBEREENEEREE —

&

=B E R R E G — &

&1z BERIR 18 )% 7 FRIE
NEZBRRKZ W

RMB'000
AREFL
2022 2021
—E-CE “B--f%
Book value Credit loss allowance Book value Credit loss allowance
REHE EEBERE RESE GEFBEE
Proportion Proportion  Carrying Proportion Proportion Carrying
Category Al Amount (%)  Amount (%)  amount  Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
28 h(%) 28 Lh%) RAEE 8 bl 28 Ll REE
Provision on RERIRE
individual basis iR - - - - - 2972 39 - - 2972
Provision on RAARE
portfolio basis HE 2,924 100 @ 0.4 2922 4,674 61 (189) 40 4,485
Total @t 2,924 100 @ / 2,922 7,646 100 (189) / 7,457
(i) Analysis of trade receivable at 31 December 2021 for 0] R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H
which credit loss allowance is provided on an individual REREES IR =EEBEE
basis: RN E SRR Z DT
RMB’000
ARBFT
At 31 December 2021 Closing balance
N_E-_—+-A=+—H Hi R A5 84
Book Credit loss Proportion Reason for
[tem IEH value allowance (%) provision
RERE FEEERE LAl%)  BERE
Trade receivable 1 FEW E 5 AR 2,972 - - Note K}z

Description of trade receivable for which credit loss
allowance is provided on an individual basis:

Note: The Group considered the reasonable and evidenced
information (including forward-looking information) available in
relation to the counterparty, assessed the expected credit
losses and accrued loss allowance. The management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as up to the approval date of the consolidated
financial statements, this trade receivable is fully settled.

REREEHEEEBRER
RN B SRR AEE -

Mzt AREZEIRGRIZEHIIA
BHABABKENER (B
AIFEIEER) - HEMEEER
BT RS IR B EERE
B85 BRBERS WEHRRE
o R EEERKE SRRE B
B BHEHIERERE SRR
TEHBERE -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued 33. &@TH—&

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (b) HMBEREENEZERBEE —
— Continued &

=B E R R E G — &

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

iz BRI AT 1e &7 FRE

Analysis of trade receivable by categories based on method

of provision for credit loss allowance — Continued B GERzT — &
(i) Analysis of trade receivables for which credit loss (i) REEEEFELHEEBERE
allowance is provided on portfolio basis: R EIE SRR DT -
2022 2021
bt St 3 —E-—F
Average Trade Average Trade

loss rate  receivables loss rate receivables

Gross carrying amount  BREIAZE FHEHEE EREZERER THEEX BRESER
Current (not past due) SR (RaH) 0% 2,774 0% 4,487
1-90 days past due BMH1EK 0% - 0% -
91-180 days past due #HI91 =180 K 0% 150 0% -
Over 180 days past due BB 180K 100% - 100% 187

2,924 4,674

ET B 18 R T iR U R SR TR A
FHNELBEMBROXMG

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the

debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
reversed RMBNil (2021: reversed RMB3,000)
impairment allowance for trade receivables, based on
the portfolio basis.

138 ANNUAL REPORT 2022
R FFR

At IR BAMHBZ AR
LN BRI S B RTRE 1 B RHE
HAEE - EEESEHNENZ
#EL 71| LA B £R 52 2 B 1A 45 TE B WK
FRIREVAERIE R

HEZZZ_ZF+ZA=1+—
AILFEE  RIBESEE K
SEBECREWRESERAR
BEARERE (T —F
B AR #3,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued 33. eMIAE—E&
(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies b) HEREMEENEZEREE —

— Continued &
Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued EERRRBEE — &
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TRIREREBBOERENRE SR
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified HERN KL S TEEEEE -
approach.

Lifetime ECL

(credit-impaired)
KETRHREEER
(HREERE)
RMB’000
ARETT
As at 1 January 2021 WZZE=-——%F—H—H 192
Impairment losses recognised BRI E RS 2
Impairment loss reversed EREEIRERE (5)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 HR=-ZEZ=—+=-A=+—HK
—_E-__F—HF—H 189

Impairment losses recognised EHERBEEE =
Write-off i ss (187)
As at 31 December 2022 R-—EB-_—F+=-A=+—H 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued 33. &@TH—&

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (b) HMBEREENEZERBEE —
— Continued &

EEmEBRRBEF G — &

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

RN E ZIRRE IR BRI ERA

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are

140

mainly due to: i
2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
Credit-impaired  Credit-impaired
_e gy
BHGERE EHEEBR
B,/ (Ad) #m/ CFd)
HBEEERE PREERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Increase in the loss allowances for trade receivables [EWE ZIRFE BB = 2
Settlement in full of trade receivables which REHERAFEDREL
were impaired in prior year RUEZER - ()
Write-off of trade receivables MW E ZERR (187) -
(187) ©)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(b)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
— Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — Continued

The Group writes off a trade receivable/other receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
when the trade receivables are over two years past due,
whichever occurs earlier.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as at 31 December
2022 as its financial assets due within one year was less than
its financial liabilities due within one year. The Group had net
current liabilities of approximately RMB48,834,000 as at 31
December 2022. The liquidity of the Group depends upon the
positive cash flows expected to be generated from the
Group’s future operations and successfully obtain new
working capital in order to meet the Group’s future working
capital and financial requirements. Details of which are set out
in Note 1.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve
at the end of the reporting period.

ZHEJIANG RUIYUAN INTELLIGENT CONTROL TECHNOLOGY CO

33. ¢RTH — &

(b)

BHEREENERERBER —

=B E R R E G — &

HWAERMBRNERARNEENKNA
I B ERR W E AN TE M (AE B
ABRBRICETRERFHEE
W 5 8RB B A £ (AR 3
HERE))  AEEEMIERKES
BRI, oA FE YRR o

RBELEE

HRAEER—FRANI SNSRI EE
PR—FRIHNEREE - FEAR
SRR -_ZB-_—F+-A=+—H@A
ErRBEemk N-T__F+=
H:—f——EI ’ $$.E’U//|L§bg1ﬁ=j¥*%§
4B AN R ¥ 48,834,000 A&
ZmEERBUAR AR B ARIREHTA
HEESER®RE - URKEUS
EEESMEAEENAREEERS
NYBHENR - BRAFBEHNMTE -

TRAMBBEHENERDE - KE
.3E?§T$§%§EFE’J§$TA@§'JH}§E—?

o RRIIRBEAEEATREA Y
E’?Elﬁﬂiﬁa?ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
MEER ZRBENEREASRE
ME - MAERERFBFIE - AR
AL 3R SR YRR IR S HAR 2 P = dh 43
THEGH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE_Z-__F+_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued 33. £@TH—&
(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (b) HMBEREENEZERBEE —
— Continued &
Liquidity tables MEBEZF*
Within 1 year Between Between Total
or repayable 1and2 2and5  undiscounted Carrying
on demand years years cash flow amounts
—-FRg FERM
RERBE -FEWF WEELE  RERBER REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

N S ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 31 December 2022 W-E--%#4+-pB=+-AH
Non-derivative financial liabilties: FTELRER:
Trade payables [ENESED 8,34 - - 8,31 8,341
Other payables and accruals Ef AR REHER 553 - - 553 553
Amount due to a shareholder of FERsRERA

ultimate holding company —ZRETE 7,740 - - 7,740 7,740
Amount due to major shareholder EN—ZTEREZE 6,000 - - 6,000 6,000
Dividends payables ERRE 4,440 - - 4,440 4,440
Loan from a major sharsholder RE—ZIEREZET 40,000 - - 40,000 37,720

67,074 - - 67,074 64,794

At 31 December 2021 R-Z=-£+-F=t+-A
Non-derivative financial liabilties: HTESRAR:
Trade payables BB S5RR 7,585 - - 7,585 7,585
Other payables and accruals h:0f3 HEE TR EE R 852 - - 852 852
Amount due to a shareholder of ENRAERAR

Ultimate holding company —ZRRFE 12,315 - - 12,315 12,315
Amount due to major shareholder B —Z T ERRFE 6,000 - - 6,000 6,000
Dividends payables MRS 4,440 - - 4,440 4440
Loan from a major shareholder RE—2IZREZER - 40,000 - 40,000 31,269

31,192 40,000 - 71,192 62,461
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

33. ¢RTH — &

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (c) €EMITAEATEE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

EREENERABZATEEEN

determined as follows: ™

. the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities . BB EREGR RGP E BB
with standard terms and conditions and traded in active MEMZEEseMEERS
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted BEE  DoR2ERBmES
market bid prices and ask prices, respectively; and ERENEBREEELAFE:

&

. the fair value of other financial assets and financial . EmmemEEReRmBGECH
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined BETEIAR) ZR2FEDRE
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models BLRBEMNTERIIZAIRN
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices EREDWEAAIBRRARMD
from observable current market transactions and dealer BRGZEBRBUTIAERS
quotes for similar instruments. EIEETE °

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets EERE FAEUBRRPILZEHEKARA

and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values
due to their short-term maturities, except for the loan from a major
shareholder, for which its carrying amount and fair value and the

ReeREERERABEZREE  HE
HEEeHmeE LA FERE  HRE—
HEIBRRZEFRRI - HREERAF
BEARRFEZSRBENT

level of fair value hierarchy are disclosed below:

Carrying
amount at Fair value at
31December 31 December  Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2022

2022 2022 categorised into
W-B--f& JH-B--E RZE-ZE+ZA=t-BHATEHESER
tZA=t-B +ZB=1-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
WEEE HAYE E-R E-R E=8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBTR ARBFR ARBFR ARBFR

Loan from a major shareholder

RE-4EEREZER 37,720 38,200 = - 38,200
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N R el

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE_Z-__F+_A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

33. ¢RTH — &

(c) EMIANFEINE — &

— Continued
Carrying
amount at Fair valug at
31 December 31 December Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2021
2021 2021 categorised into
woE-—&  poE-—&  RCEC-FTAZT-BHAVENENER
+-A=+-B +ZA=t-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HEAE AR R £ E=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARETR ARETT AREFT MRS
Loan from a major shareholder RE—4EIEREZER 31,269 35,400 - - 35,400

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair

value measurements

The loan from a major shareholder is an interest-free loan of
RMB40,000,000 (2021: RMB40,000,000) (Note 24). The loan will
be repayable in full on 30 April 2023 (2021: 30 April 2023). The fair
value of the loan is estimated as being the present values of future
cash flows, discounted at prevailing market interest rates for an
equivalent loan of 15% (2021: 8%)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_ 4+ _F=+—HItFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

34. ARATFMEMBARREK

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HisE AR®ET T ARETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RH B A RRIRE (@) 3,075 3,275
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TBRHIE - BER
receivables Hoh e M AR 5K 35 -
Bank balances and cash IRITEHR LIRS 7,140 10,078
7,175 10,078
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HAER RS &FE FEA 592 592
Amounts due to subsidiaries RSB B A R FIE 6,179 5,386
Amount due to a shareholder of fﬁa—iﬁq B2 E)—%
ultimate holding company % B TR I8 7,740 12,315
Amount due to a major shareholder — JEft—% £ EAX R N IH 6,000 6,000
Loan from a major shareholder RKE—REEREZER 37,720 -
Dividends payable FEAT A% B 4,440 4,440
(62,671) 28,733
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (55,496) (18,655)
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loan from a major shareholder RE—BEERRZEK - (31,269)
Net liabilities FEE (52,421) (46,649)
Capital and reserves B
Share capital R& A 50,000 50,000
Reserves e (b) (102,421) (96,649)
Capital deficiency ERE 4 (52,421) (46,649)

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2023

and are signed on its behalf by:

He Keng
A $82
Director

EF

ARBNFBERRKRIBREETER_-F
TEF=ZA- A ERRETIE . I

BT EEREREE

Wu Shanhong
RHBAL
Director

EE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34. RATHNHMBERRK — &
COMPANY — Continued

Notes: s -
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (@ R B R BRIEE
2022 2021
—Eo—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETFT
Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE R 3,275 3,275
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEHRE (200) -
3,075 3,275
(o) Reserves (b) s
Statutory
Capital Other surplus Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EEN1 Hitf#E EERHLAES B4y @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2021 W-ZE-——%—F—AR 40,449 276,208 23,701 (430,136) (89,778

Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FREE R 2 HEEREE

for the year - - - (6,871) (6,871)
At 31 December 2021 and R-E-—FE+-F=+—H

1 January 2022 r-ZE-—F—F—H 40,449 276,208 23,701 (437,007) (96,649)
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FAEE k2 HEE AR

for the year - - - (5,772) (5,772)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-=4+-A=+-AH 40,449 276,208 23,701 (442,779) (102,421)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_ - —"F+-_A=+—HIFE
35. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

35. FEMBAT

R ZFR_F_—F+_A=+—

H ARAEZWMERAFENOT

Place of
incorporation/
registration Date of Attributable equity
Class of and operation/  incorporation/ Paid up/ interest held
Name of subsidiary shares held establishment establishment issued share capital by the Company Principal activities
AL/
HngE/ B8R/
WEARER Fris Rt &Rl Rt HREY/ R A fTR% AEERE TEER
2022 2021
—B_"F -I--fF
Hangzhou Jingin Trading Contriouted capital ~ PRC* 5 May 2017 RMB3,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of controller systems for
Co. Ltd.* EHRA P —Z-+E7ATA ARH3,000,0007C electronic equipment and
MNELESERAR" electronic components and
subassembly for electronic
appliances and manufacturing
and sales of CNC machine tools
optical and mechanical products
HESTREREFlaniEnE
AR RBE R E R
f&fém
Hangzhou Qinyu Electronic Contriouted capital ~ PRC* 7May 2017 RMB275,000 100% 100%  Inactive
Technology Co. Ltd.* ERRA e “F-tFAAtA AR 275,000 BEH
ML EEFREBRA"
# Up to the reporting date, the Company only paid RMB3,275,000 for the # HERERE  ARAFEHFMRAEASARKE
registered share capital. 3,275,000 7T °
* These entities are established in the form of limited liability company. * ZEBERARERETRT

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

RESULTS ES

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C-fF “E--F %R “E-NEF —E-N\E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARETT ARBTTR ARETR ARBTT

Revenue Wiz 32,213 36,540 35,858 66,558 61,706
Cost of sales HENR (27,402) (34,205) (35,377) (64,429) (57,716)
Gross profit ES | 4811 2,335 481 2,129 3,990
Other income EhlA 23 3 22 200 77
Impairment losses under expected BHEEBEEAETHE
credit loss model, net of reversal B NREE - 3 6 (363) -
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (369) (172) (119) (%) (32)
Other gain and losses EthlsAEe - - (123) - -
Administrative expenses TBER (2,523) (2,319) (4,511) (5,370) (4,350)
Finance costs BANK (6,451) (5,348) (4,270) (3,329) (3,077)
Gain on disposal/deregistration of subsidiaries & /BB INE AR
W&/ (B1#8) - 1,509 - - 2,086
Loss before taxation BitaEE (4,509) (3,989) (8514) (6,829) (1,106)
Income tax (expense)/credit FER (%) B% (123) (49) 18 (21) (27)
Loss for the year FRER (4,632) (4,034) (8,496) (6,844) (1,133)
Attributable to: el
QOwners of the Company AREHEBA (4,632) (4,034) (8,496) (6,844) (1,183)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY EE AEkER
At 31 December
R+t=A=+-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

—E--f C—T--% CZE-TF C—ZT-hE ZT-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETr ARET:R

Total assets BEBRE 17,829 18,596 15,603 23,596 26,161
Total liabilities aELE (66,462) (62,597) (65,570) (72,280) (68,001)
(48,633) (44,001) (39,967) (48,684) (41,840)
Equity attributable to owners KRAEBA
of the Company fE b (48,633) (44,001) (39,967) (48,684) (41,840)
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